
AK PT/OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - August
1, 2025
Alaska Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing
Videoconference
2025-08-01 08:00 - 10:00 AKDT

Table of Contents

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

Committee Members:
Tori Daugherty
Jonathan Gates

2. Review/Approve Agenda....................................................................................................3

      PHY - Agenda - SOP Mtg - 08-01-2025.pdf........................................................................3

3. Approve Minutes - 12/20/2024 and 07/11/2025..................................................................4

      AK PT_OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - July 11, 2025 Minutes - 

DRAFT.pdf................................................................................................................................4

      AK PT_OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - December 20, 2024 Minutes - 

Draft.pdf....................................................................................................................................7

4. Public Comment

5. Legislative Initiatives

A. PT Modernization Statutory Project.........................................................................10

      AK PT Scope Modernization Draft Language approved 06-17-2025.pdf...................10

      AK Modernized PT SOP - draft 06.17.2025 working copy.docx................................16

B. OT Modernization Statutory Project........................................................................60

      OT Scope Modernization Final report.pdf..................................................................60

C. Drafting Combined Draft Language from PT and OT Modernization Statutory 

Projects...........................................................................................................................70

      Definitions worksheet.docx........................................................................................70

D. Legislative Strategy...................................................................................................75

      AKOTA - Rep Shaw letter  - 10-03-2023.pdf..............................................................75

      AKOTA - State association letter - 10-3-2023.pdf......................................................76

E. DPT/OTD Term Protection Statutory DRAFT Language



previously tabled

6. NEW Board Correspondence

A. OT Scope Questions

B. PT Scope Questions

C. Generic.......................................................................................................................77

      Request to Share Survey with Licensed Physical Therapists - 

07-20-2025_redacted.pdf.................................................................................................77

i. Board Position Statement - PT/OT License Required when working in School

District in addition to Type C Special Service Certificate...................................80

Board Feb 2010 minutes - Agenda Item 10

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/Portals/5/pub/BoardMeetings/PTFeb2010_M
inutes.pdf

      Generic unlicensed occupational therapist letter.docx........................................80

      Generic unlicensed physical therapist letter.docx...............................................84

7. Next Steps

8. Adjourn



 
AK PT/OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - August 1, 
2025 
Alaska Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 
Friday, August 1, 2025 at 8:00 AM AKDT to 10:00 AM AKDT 

   Videoconference 
 
 
Meeting Details: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEudeqqrTgpGNFWOoY69zWW_kIu2EBP6-zj 
Additional Meeting Details: Registration required 

Agenda 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call 8:00 AM 

Committee Members: Tori Daugherty and Jonathan Gates 
2. Review/Approve Agenda 8:05 AM 

3. Approve Minutes - 12/20/2024 and 07/11/2025 8:10 AM 

4. Public Comment 8:15 AM 

5. Legislative Initiatives  

A. PT Modernization Statutory Project 8:25 AM 
B. OT Modernization Statutory Project 8:40 AM 
C. Drafting Combined Draft Language from PT and  8:55 AM 
OT Modernization Statutory Projects 
D. Legislative Strategy 9:25 AM 
E. DPT/OTD Term Protection Statutory DRAFT Language 
previously tabled 

6. NEW Board Correspondence  

A. OT Scope Questions 
B. PT Scope Questions  
C. Generic 9:40 AM 

i. Board Position Statement - PT/OT License Required when working in School District 
in addition to Type C Special Service Certificate 

7. Next Steps 9:55 AM 

8. Adjourn 10:00 AM 

 

 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEudeqqrTgpGNFWOoY69zWW_kIu2EBP6-zj


 

 1 
 

AK PT/OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee 
Mtg - July 11, 2025 Minutes 
Alaska Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 

   7/11/2025 8:00 AM AKDT 
   Videoconference 

 
These are DRAFT minutes prepared by staff of the Division of Corporations, Business and 
Professional Licensing. They have not been reviewed or approved by the Board. 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call  

Committee Members: Tori Daugherty and Jonathan Gates 
 
The Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board Scope of Practices Committee 
meeting was called to order on Friday, July 11, 2025 at 8:03 am by Tori Daugherty. 
 
Roll call taken:   
Committee members present: Tori Daugherty and Jonathan Gates. 
Staff present: Shane Bannarbie, Project Coordinator and Sheri Ryan, Licensing Examiner.  
Guest: Kristen Neville, Manager State Affairs, AOTA 

2. Review/Approve Agenda  

Jonathan Gates motioned to accept the agenda for the July 11, 2025 Scope of Practices 
Committee meeting as written. Tori Daugherty seconded. All in favor; none opposed. 
Motion passes unanimously. 

3. Approve Minutes - 12/20/2024 and 06/06/2025  

Jonathan Gates motioned to approve the minutes for the June 6, 2025 Scope of 
Practices Committee meeting as written. Tori Daugherty seconded. All in favor; none 
opposed. Motion passes unanimously. 
December 20, 2024 minutes still outstanding. Staff to complete before next meeting. 

4. Public Comment  

No public comment given.  

5. NEW Board Correspondence  

A. OT Scope Questions  

 

 
 



 

 2 
 

Correspondence reviewed and discussed. Statutes and regulations silent on 
requirement of CPR /BLS certification. Tori Daugherty to draft response to be 
loaded into OnBoard for full PHY Board review and approval.  

B. PT Scope Questions  

Correspondence reviewed and discussed. AS 08.84.190(6) physical therapist 
assistant definition and 12 AAC 54.510 Supervision of Physical Therapist 
Assistants reviewed and discussed as they apply to the correspondence. Jonathan 
Gates to draft response to be loaded into OnBoard for full PHY Board review and 
approval.  

C. Generic  

Board Position Statement - PT/OT License Required when working in School 
District in addition to Type C Special Service Certificate - Generic PT and OT 
template letters reviewed. Discussion for needed revisions. Tori Daugherty to 
revise templated letters for review at next meeting.  

Tori Daugherty presented draft templated legal disclosure statement and billing 
disclosure statement for inclusion in all Scope of Practices correspondence letters 
for discussion. Committee members to begin using statement(s) on all draft 
correspondence. Templated statement(s) to be presented at full board meeting 
in October full board meeting for discussion and other committees use in 
correspondence.  

6. Legislative Initiatives  

A. PT Modernization Statutory Project  

Committee reviewed PT Scope Modernization draft. Jonathan Gates provided 
brief overview on drafted language.  

B. OT Modernization Statutory Project  

Committee reviewed OT Scope Modernization draft. Tori Daugherty provided 
brief overview on drafted language.  

C. DPT/OTD Term Protection Statutory DRAFT Language  
previously tabled 

7. Next Steps  

1. Tori Daugherty to draft response for CPR and BLS requirement for licensed OTs - 
06-24-2025 to be loaded into OnBoard for full PHY Board review and approval.  

2. Jonathan Gates to draft response for Return to Work Screening - 06-18-2025 to 
be loaded into OnBoard for full PHY Board review and approval.  



 

 3 
 

3. Tori Daugherty to revise templated letters for PT/OT license required for review 
at next committee meeting. 

4. Templated legal disclosure statement and billing disclosure statement to be 
presented at full board meeting in October full board meeting for discussion and 
other committees use in correspondence.  

5. Request full board meeting be scheduled to review PT and OT Scope 
Modernization drafted language and board direction on next steps 

1. Blend statutory language?  
2. Keep PT and OT scopes independent? 
3. Plan of action for stakeholder involvement for introduction of bill 

language to legislature 

8. Adjourn  

The Alaska Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Scope of Practices Committee 
meeting was adjourned at 10:04 am on Friday, July 11, 2025 when committee member 
Jonathan Gates left the meeting.   
 
Next virtual meeting scheduled for August 1 at 8:00 am.  
 



 1 
 

AK PT/OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee 
Mtg - December 20, 2024 Minutes 
Alaska Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 

    12/20/2024 1:00 PM AKST 
    Videoconference 

 
These are DRAFT minutes prepared by staff of the Division of Corporations, Business and 
Professional Licensing. They have not been reviewed or approved by the Board. 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call  

Committee Members: 
Tina McLean, Enlow Walker, Tori Daugherty 
 
The Alaska Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Scope of Practices Committee 
meeting was called to order on Friday, December 20, 2024 at 1:01 pm by Tina McLean.  
 
Roll call taken.  
Committee members present were Tina McLean, Tori Daugherty, and Enlow Walker.  
 
Staff members present for the meeting were Shane Bannarbie, Program Coordinator I 
and Sheri Ryan, Licensing Examiner with CBPL and Donald Enoch, Education 
Administrator II with the Alaska Department of Education and Early Development.  
 
Guests present were Clarissa Dickson, Director and Therese Mastrangelo, Rehab 
Manager, with Providence Home Health.  

2. Review/Approve Agenda  

Motion by Tori Daugherty to approve the meeting agenda as submitted. Seconded by 
Enlow Walker. All in favor; none opposed. Motion passes unanimously. 

3. School Based Occupational Therapy Services (Presenters: Donald E. Enoch, Jr, PhD - 
Education Administrator II) 

Donald Enoch, Jr., Education Administrator II with the Alaska Department of Education 
and Early Development provided insight for the board on IEPS and the Special Education 
(SPED) department. https://education.alaska.gov/sped Regulation change pending over 
2 years regarding OT, PT, Speech language Pathology - see 1x/month and allow visits by 
other means than on-site, i.e. virtual such as Zoom meeting. Currently out for public 
comment. Current regulations say on-site. Department of Education 4 AAC 52.250 and 

 
 

https://education.alaska.gov/sped


 2 
 

52.252(b). Committee discussed some of the questions received over past year regarding 
OT in school settings. Great questions to defer to the SPED team -->sped@alaska.gov 
Action items: 
Don Enoch to send mark-up w/track changes on regulatory changes for 4 AAC 52.250 
and 12 AAC 520.252 to PHY board for review and comment.  

4. Approve Minutes - 11/15/2024  

Enlow Walker moved to approve the November 15, 2024 minutes as written. Motion 
seconded by Tori Daugherty. All in favor; none opposed. Motion passes unanimously.  

5. Public Comment  

6. Correspondence Items  

A. Patient Treatment - School Based and Outpatient - 11-08-2024  

Tina McLean moved to send draft response Patient Treatment - School Based 
and Outpatient - 11-08-2024 through OnBoard to full board for review and 
approval. Motion seconded by Tori Daugherty. All in favor; none opposed. 
Motion passes unanimously.  

B. Occupational Therapy School Based Ethics Question - 11-01-2024 - Tabled from 
11/15 mtg  

Committee discussed concerns. Tori Daugherty to draft response. Separate out 
what is OT under 08.84 and what is under SPED and direct those questions to 
SPED@alaska.gov for response.  

C. School based IEPs and Supervision - 11-12-2024  

School based IEPs and Supervision - 11-12-2024 - Staff to send email directing 
Ms. Marthinsen to sped@alaska.gov.  

D. PTA Scope of Practice Question - 9-18-2024 (referred from Oct Board mtg)  

Committee discussed conflicts between 7 AAC 12.521(a)(6) + (b)(6) eff. 9/6/1996 
Register 139: am 5/14/2021, Register 238 and 12 AAC 54.510 and difficulties this 
creates in applicable daily practice standards.  
Heidi Hedberg, Dept. of Health Commissioner.  
Conflicts to be identified by Tina McLean in letter to Deputy Director Glenn 
Saviers. 

E. PT Scope Question - Dietary Recommendations - 10-29-2024  

Committee discussed letter. 08.84.190(6) does contain element of wellness + 
healthy lifestyles. Tina McLean to draft response for review at next Scope of 



 3 
 

Practices committee meeting. PT scope does include "general" principles of 
dietary.  

F. DPT Designation Credentials - 11-07-2024  

Committee discussed DPT Designation - credentials - 11-07-2024 
correspondence. Referenced APTA - appropriate use of designation. Tina McLean 
to draft response for review at next Scope of Practices committee meeting 
2/7/2025.  

7. Next Steps  

1. Don Enoch to send mark-up w/track changes on regulatory changes for 4 AAC 
52.250 and 12 AAC 520.252 to PHY board for review and comment.  

2. Tori Daugherty to draft response for OT Ethics Question – School Based – 11-
01-2024 (Whitney Poser) for review at next meeting 2/7/2025. 

3. Staff to send committee approved draft response for Patient Treatment – 
School Based and Outpatient – 11-08-2024 to Board for review/approval 
through OnBoard. 

4. Staff to answer question from Andrea Marthinsen 11-12-2024 – send 
SPED@alaska.gov as resource 

5. PTA Scope of Practice Question – 09-18-2024 (Clarissa Dickson) – Tina McLean 
to write letter to Deputy Director Glenn Saviers about conflict between 12 AAC 
54.510 monthly on site/teleconference with the PTA requirement and 7 AAC 
12.521(a)(6) + (b)(6) biweekly onsite with the patient requirement [creates 
dilemma for home health settings]. 

6. Tina McLean to draft response for review on PT scope question - dietary 
recommendations – 10-29-2024 at next meeting 2/7/2025. 

7. Tina McLean to draft response for review on DPT designation credentials – 11-
07-2024 at next meeting 2/7/2025. 

8. Next committee meeting 2/7/2025 agenda devoted to statutory language 
projects (4). Push all incoming questions to the 3/7/2025 meeting. 
i.      OT scope of practice update 

         ii.      PT scope of practice update 
         iii.      DPT/ODT term protection 
         iv.      Executive Administrator position 

8. Adjourn  

 
The Alaska Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Scope of Practices Committee 
meeting was adjourned at 2:36 pm on Friday, December 20, 2024.   
 
Next virtual meeting scheduled for Friday, February 7, 2025.  
 

mailto:SPED@alaska.gov


PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  1 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

CHAPTER 84. 
PHYSICAL THERAPISTS AND OCCUPATIONAL THERAPISTS 

Article 

1. State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board (§§ 08.84.010, 08.84.020) 
2. Licensing (§§ 08.84.030 – 08.84.120) 
3. Unlawful Acts (§§ 08.84.130 – 08.84.180) 

ARTICLE 1. 
STATE PHYSICAL THERAPY AND OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY BOARD 

Section 
01. Legislative Intent 
10. Creation and membership of board 
20. Applicability of Administrative Procedure Act 

Sec. 08.84.001. Legislative Intent 
This act is enacted for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety, 

and welfare, and provides for jurisdiction administrative control, supervision, 
licensure, and regulation of the practice of physical therapy and occupational 
therapy. It is the legislature’s intent that only individuals who meet and maintain 
prescribed standards of competence and conduct may engage in the practice of 
physical therapy and occupational therapy as authorized by this act. This act 
shall be liberally construed to promote the public interest and to accomplish the 
purpose stated herein. 

 

Sec. 08.84.120. Refusal, revocation, and suspension of license; discipline. (a) The 
board may refuse to license an applicant, may refuse to renew the license of a person, 
may discipline a person, and may suspend or revoke the license of a person who  

(1) has obtained or attempted to obtain a license by fraud or material 
misrepresentation; 
(2) uses drugs or alcohol in any manner that affects the person’s ability to 
practice physical therapy or occupational therapy competently and safely; 
(3) has been convicted of a state or federal felony or other crime that effects the 
person’s ability to practice competently and safely; 
(4) is guilty, in the judgement of the board, of gross negligence or malpractice or 
has engaged in conduct contrary to the recognized standards of ethics of the 
physical therapy profession or the occupational therapy profession; 



PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  2 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

(5) has continued to practice physical therapy or occupational therapy after 
becoming unfit because of physical or mental disability; 
(6) has failed to refer a patient to another qualified professional when the 
patient's condition is beyond the training or ability of the person; 
(7) as a physical therapist assistant, has attempted to practice physical therapy 
that has not been initiated, supervised, and terminated by a licensed physical 
therapist; 
(8) as an occupational therapy assistant, has attempted to practice occupational 
therapy that has not been supervised by a licensed occupational therapist; or 
(9) has failed to comply with this chapter, a regulation adopted under this 
chapter, or an order of the board.  
(10) Practicing or offering to practice beyond the scope of the practice of 
physical therapy. 
(11) Acting in a manner inconsistent with generally accepted standards of 
physical therapy practice, regardless of whether actual injury to the patient 
is established. 
 

(b) The refusal or suspension of a license may be modified or rescinded if the person 
has been rehabilitated to the satisfaction of the board. 
(c) The board may not impose disciplinary sanctions on a licensee for the evaluation, 
diagnosis, or treatment of a person through audio, video, or data communications when 
physically separated from the person if the licensee 
 

(1) or another licensed health care provider is available to provide follow-up care; 
(2) requests that the person consent to sending a copy of all records of the 
encounter to a primary care provider if the licensee is not the person's primary 
care provider and, if the person consents, the licensee sends the records to the 
person's primary care provider; and 
(3) meets the requirements established by the board in regulation. 
 

(d) The board shall adopt regulations restricting the evaluation, diagnosis, supervision, 
and treatment of a person as authorized under (c) of this section by establishing 
standards of care, including standards for training, confidentiality, supervision, practice, 
and related issues. 

 

ARTICLE 5. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section  
190. Definitions  
200. Short title 



PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  3 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

Sec. 08.84.190. Definitions. In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires,  

(1) “board” means the State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board;  
(2) “occupational therapist” means a person who practices occupational therapy;  

(3) “occupational therapy” means, for compensation, the use of purposeful 
activity, evaluation, treatment, and consultation with human beings whose ability to cope 
with the tasks of daily living are threatened with, or impaired by developmental deficits, 
learning disabilities, aging, poverty, cultural differences, physical injury or illness, or 
psychological and social disabilities to maximize independence, prevent disability, and 
maintain health; “occupational therapy” includes  

(A) developing daily living, play, leisure, social, and developmental skills;  
(B) facilitating perceptual-motor and sensory integrative functioning;  
(C) enhancing functional performance, prevocational skills, and work capabilities 
using specifically designed exercises, therapeutic activities and measure, manual 
intervention, and appliances;  
(D) design, fabrication, and application of splints or selective adaptive equipment;  
(E) administering and interpreting standardized and nonstandardized 
assessments, including sensory, manual muscle, and range of motion 
assessments, necessary for planning effective treatment; and  
(F) adapting environments for the disabled;  

(4) “occupational therapy assistant” means a person who assists in the practice 
of occupational therapy under the supervision of an occupational therapist;  
(5) “physical therapist” means a person who practices physical therapy;  
(6) “physical therapist assistant” means a person who assists in the practice of physical 
therapy or an aspect of physical therapy as initiated, supervised, and terminated by a 
licensed physical therapist; the responsibilities of a physical therapist assistant do not 
include evaluation;  
(7) “physical therapy” means the examination, treatment and instruction of human 
beings to detect, assess, prevent, correct, alleviate and limit physical disability, bodily 
malfunction, pain from injury, disease and other bodily or mental conditions and 
includes the administration, interpretation and evaluation of tests and measurements of 
bodily functions and structures; the planning, administration, evaluation and modification 
of treatment and instruction including the use of physical measures, activities and 
devices for preventive and therapeutic purposes; the provision of consultative, 
educational and other advisory services for the purpose of reducing the incidence and 
severity of physical disability, bodily malfunction and pain; “physical therapy” does not 
include the use of roentgen rays and radioactive materials for diagnosis and therapeutic 
purposes, the use of electricity for surgical purposes, and the diagnosis of disease. 



PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  4 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

(2) “Competence” is the application of knowledge, skills, and behaviors 
required to function effectively, safely, ethically and legally within the context of 
the patient/client’s role and environment. 

(3) “Consultation” means a physical therapist seeking assistance from, or 
rendering professional or expert opinion or advice to, another physical therapist 
or professional healthcare provider via electronic communications, telehealth, or 
in-person. 

(4) “Continuing competence” is the lifelong process of maintaining and 
documenting competence through ongoing self-assessment, development, and 
implementation of a personal learning plan, and subsequent reassessment. 

(5) “Electronic Communications” means the science and technology of 
communication (the process of exchanging information) over any distance by 
electronic transmission of impulses including activities that involve using 
electronic communications to store, organize, send, retrieve, and/or convey 
information. 

(6) “Nexus to practice” means the criminal act of the applicant or licensee 
posing a risk to the public’s welfare and safety relative to the practice of physical 
therapy. 

(7) “Patient/client” means any individual receiving physical therapy from a 
licensee, permit, or compact privilege holder under this Act. 

(8) “Physical therapist assistant” means a person who assists in the practice 
of physical therapy or an aspect of physical therapy as initiated, supervised, and 
terminated by a licensed physical therapist; the responsibilities of a physical 
therapist assistant do not include evaluation.  

(9) “Physical therapist” means a person who is a licensed healthcare 
practitioner pursuant to this act to practice physical therapy. The terms 
“physiotherapist” or “physio” shall be synonymous with “physical therapist” 
pursuant to this act. A Physical Therapist may evaluate, initiate, and provide 
physical therapy treatment for a client as the first point of contact without a 
referral from other health service providers. 

(10) “Physical therapy” means the care and services provided in-person 
or via telehealth by or under the direction and supervision of a physical therapist 
who is licensed pursuant to this act. The term “physiotherapy” shall be 
synonymous with “physical therapy” pursuant to this act. 

(11) “Practice of physical therapy” means: 

a. Examining, evaluating, and testing patients/clients with mechanical, 
physiological and developmental impairments, functional limitations, and 
disabilities or other health and movement-related conditions in order to 



PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  5 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

determine a diagnosis, prognosis and plan of treatment intervention, and to 
assess the ongoing effects of intervention. 
b. Alleviating impairments, pain, functional limitations and disabilities; 
promoting health; and preventing disease by designing, implementing and 
modifying treatment interventions that may include, but not limited to: 
therapeutic exercise; needle insertion; patient-related instruction; therapeutic 
massage; airway clearance techniques; integumentary protection and repair 
techniques; debridement and wound care; physical agents or modalities; 
mechanical and electrotherapeutic modalities; manual therapy including soft 
tissue and joint mobilization/manipulation; functional training in self-care and 
in home, community or work integration or reintegration; as well as 
prescription application and, as appropriate, fabrication of assistive, adaptive, 
orthotic, prosthetic, protective and supportive devices and equipment. 
c. Reducing the risk of injury, impairment, functional limitation, and disability, 
including performance of participation-focused physical examinations and the 
promotion and maintenance of fitness, health, and wellness in populations of 
all ages. 
d. Serving as primary care providers for patients and clients experiencing 
healthcare concerns. 
e. Referring a patient/client to healthcare providers and facilities for services 
and testing to inform the physical therapist plan of care. 
f. Engaging in administration, consultation, education, and research. 
 

(12) “Teleheath” is the use of electronic communications to provide and deliver 
a host of health-related information and healthcare services, including, but not 
limited to physical therapy related information and services, over large and 
small distances. Telehealth encompasses a variety of healthcare and health 
promotion activities, including, but not limited to, education, advice, 
reminders, interventions, and monitoring of interventions. 
 

(13) “Testing” means standard methods and techniques used to gather data 
about the patient/client, including but not limited to imaging, electrodiagnostic 
and electrophysiologic tests and measures. 

 
(Will need to incorporate new occupational therapy definitions in alphabetical 

order under AS 08.84.190) 
  



PT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group         accepted 6/17/2025 
 

P a g e  6 | 6 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 

Work Group Recommendations for associated Regulations Project: 

*Telehealth: 
Omit phrase from 12 AAC 54.530(a).  
Change Telerehabilitation to Telehealth - 12 AAC 54.530. (regulation project) and omit 
wording limiting to “geographic constraints or health and safety constraints.” See 
Centralized Statute 08.02.130 
 
(a) The purpose of this section is to establish standards for the practice of 
telerehabilitation telehealth by means of [an interactive telecommunication system] by a 
physical therapist licensed under AS 08.84 and this chapter in order to provide physical 
therapy to patients who are located in this state. and do not have access to a physical 
therapist in person due to geographic constraints or health and safety constraints. 
 



 

 

CHAPTER 84. 
PHYSICAL THERAPISTS AND OCCUPATIONAL THERAPISTS 

Article 

1. State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board (§§ 08.84.010, 08.84.020) 
2. Licensing (§§ 08.84.030 – 08.84.120) 
3. Unlawful Acts (§§ 08.84.130 – 08.84.180) 

3A. Interstate Physical Therapy Licensure Compact (§ 08.84.188) 4. General Provisions (§§ 
08.84.190, 08.84.200) 

ARTICLE 1. 
STATE PHYSICAL THERAPY AND OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY BOARD 

Section 
10. Creation and membership of board 
20. Applicability of Administrative Procedure Act 

1.01 Legislative Intent 
This act is enacted for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety, and welfare, 

and provides for jurisdiction administrative control, supervision, licensure, and regulation of the 
practice of physical therapy and occupational therapy. It is the legislature’s intent that only 
individuals who meet and maintain prescribed standards of competence and conduct may 
engage in the practice of physical therapy and occupational therapy as authorized by this act. 
This act shall be liberally construed to promote the public interest and to accomplish the 
purpose stated herein. 

Sec. 08.84.010. Creation and membership of board. (a) There is created the State Physical Therapy 
and Occupational Therapy Board, which consists of seven members. The membership consists of 
three physical therapists licensed in the state or two physical therapists and one physical 
therapist assistant licensed in the state, three occupational therapists licensed in the state or two 
occupational therapists and one occupational therapy assistant licensed in the state, and one lay 
person with no direct financial interest in the health care industry. Members of the board shall be 
United States citizens domiciled in the state. 

(b) The board shall control all matters pertaining to the licensing of physical therapists, physical 
therapist assistants, occupational therapists, and occupational therapy assistants and the 
practice of physical therapy and the practice of occupational therapy. The board shall 

(1) pass upon the qualifications of applicants; 
(2) provide for the examination of applicants; 
(3) issue temporary permits and licenses to persons qualified under this chapter; 
(4) suspend, revoke, or refuse to issue or renew a license under AS 08.84.120; 
(5) keep a current register listing the name, business address, date, and number of the license of 
each person 

Commented [1]: Leave AK language as-is. 

Commented [SR2]:  Add occupational therapy 
to Legislative Intent opening paragraph to make 
universal for both programs 

Commented [3]: Adopt MPA language - add 
to Sec. 08.84.190 
Commented [4]: Does it fit better here?  
Commented [SR5R4]:  Consensus of group to 
keep 1.01 Legislative Intent as opening paragraph 



 

 

who is licensed to practice under this chapter; 
(6) adopt regulations under AS 44.62 (Administrative Procedure Act) necessary to carry out the 
purposes of 

this chapter, including regulations establishing qualifications for licensure and renewal of 
licensure under this chapter; (7) implement the Interstate Physical Therapy Licensure Compact 
under AS 08.84.188. 

Sec. 08.84.020. Applicability of Administrative Procedure Act. The board shall comply with AS 
44.62 (Administrative Procedure Act). 

 

ARTICLE 2. LICENSING 

Section 
30. Qualifications for licensing 
32. Foreign-educated applicants 
34. Exemption from criminal justice information and criminal history record check 40. Application 
for license 
50. Fees 
60. Licensure by acceptance of credentials 
65. Temporary permit 
75. Limited permit 
80. Examinations 
90. Licensure 

100. Renewal of license 
120. Refusal, revocation, and suspension of license; discipline 

Sec. 08.84.030. Qualifications for licensing. (a) To be eligible for licensure by the board as a physical 
therapist or physical therapist assistant, an applicant, unless a graduate of a foreign school of physical 
therapy located outside the United States, shall 

(1) have graduated from a professional physical therapy education program that includes supervised field 
work and is accredited by a national accreditation agency approved by the board; 

-1- 

(2) pass, to the satisfaction of the board, an examination prepared by a national testing service approved 
by the board to determine the applicant's fitness for practice as a physical therapist or physical therapist 
assistant, or be entitled to licensure without examination as provided in AS 08.84.060; 
and (3) meet qualifications for licensure established in regulations adopted by the board under AS 
08.84.010(b); 

(4) have been fingerprinted and have provided the fees required by the Department of Public Safety 
under AS 12.62.160 for criminal justice information and a national criminal history record check; the 
fingerprints and fees shall be forwarded to the Department of Public Safety to obtain a report of criminal 
justice information under AS 12.62 and a national criminal history record check under AS 12.62.400 



 

 

(b) To be eligible for licensure by the board as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy 
assistant, an applicant, unless a graduate of a foreign school of occupational therapy located outside the 
United States, shall 

(1) have graduated from a professional occupational therapy education program that includes supervised 
field work and is accredited by a national accreditation agency approved by the board; 

(2) pass, to the satisfaction of the board, an examination prepared by a national testing service approved 
by the board or an examination recognized by a national accreditation agency approved by the board to 
determine the applicant's fitness for practice as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy 
assistant, or be entitled to licensure without examination under AS 08.84.060; 
and (3) meet qualifications for licensure established in regulations adopted by the board under AS 
08.84.010(b); 

(4) have been fingerprinted and have provided the fees required by the Department of Public Safety 
under AS 12.62.160 for criminal justice information and a national criminal history record check; the 
fingerprints and fees shall be forwarded to the Department of Public Safety to obtain a report of criminal 
justice information under AS 12.62 and a national criminal history record check under AS 12.62.400. 

Sec. 08.84.032. Foreign-educated applicants. (a) To be eligible for licensure by the board as a physical 
therapist or physical therapist assistant, an applicant who is a graduate of a school of physical therapy 
that is located outside the United States shall 

(1) have completed, to the satisfaction of the board, a resident course of study and professional 
instruction substantially equivalent to a professional physical therapy education program that is accredited 
by a board-approved national accreditation agency in the United States; 

(2) have completed, to the satisfaction of the board, an internship under the continuous direction and 
immediate supervision of a physical therapist in an institution that ordinarily provides physical therapy and 
is approved by the board, for that period of time specified by the board, and furnish documentary 
evidence of compliance with this paragraph; 

(3) pass an examination recognized by the board that measures the competence of the applicant in the 
English language if the applicant's physical therapist or physical therapist assistant education program 
was not taught in English; 

(4) have met applicable requirements under 8 U.S.C. 1101 – 1503 (Immigration and Nationality Act), 
unless a United States citizen; 

(5) pass the examination approved by the board under AS 08.84.030(a)(2); 
(6) pay the fee required under AS 08.84.050; 
(7) meet additional qualifications for licensure established in regulations adopted by the board under AS 

08.84.010(b); and 
(8) have been fingerprinted and have provided the fees required by the Department of Public Safety 
under AS 

12.62.160 for criminal justice information and a national criminal history record check; the fingerprints and 
fees shall be forwarded to the Department of Public Safety to obtain a report of criminal justice 
information under AS 12.62 and a national criminal history record check under AS 12.62.400. 



 

 

(b) To be eligible for licensure by the board as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy 
assistant, an applicant who is a graduate of a school of occupational therapy that is located outside the 
United States shall 

(1) have completed, to the satisfaction of the board, a resident course of study and professional 
instruction substantially equivalent to a professional occupational therapy education program that is 
accredited by a board- approved national accreditation agency in the United States; 

(2) have completed, to the satisfaction of the board, supervised field work equivalent to that required 
under AS 08.84.030(b); 

(3) pass an examination recognized by the board that measures the competence of the applicant in the 
English language if the applicant's occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant education 
program was not taught in English; 

(4) have met applicable requirements under 8 U.S.C. 1101 – 1503 (Immigration and Nationality Act), 
unless a United States citizen; 

(5) pass an examination approved by the board under AS 08.84.030(b); 
(6) pay the fee required under AS 08.84.050; 
(7) meet additional qualifications for licensure established in regulations adopted by the board under AS 

08.84.010(b); and 

-2- 

(8) have been fingerprinted and have provided the fees required by the Department of Public Safety 
under AS 12.62.160 for criminal justice information and a national criminal history record check; the 
fingerprints and fees shall be forwarded to the Department of Public Safety to obtain a report of criminal 
justice information under AS 12.62 and a national criminal history record check under AS 12.62.400. 

Sec. 08.84.034. Exemption from criminal justice information and criminal history record check. A 
physical therapist, physical therapist assistant, occupational therapist, or occupational therapy assistant 
holding a valid license under this chapter on July 1, 2024, is exempt from the requirements of AS 
08.84.030(a)(4) and (b)(4) and 08.84.032(a)(8) and (b)(8), but is otherwise subject to this chapter. 

Sec. 08.84.040. Application for license. To be licensed under this chapter to practice physical therapy 
or occupational therapy, an applicant shall apply to the board on a form prescribed by the board. An 
applicant shall include in the application evidence under oath that the applicant possesses the 
qualifications required by AS 08.84.030 or 08.84.032. 

Sec. 08.84.050. Fees. The Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development shall set 
fees under AS 08.01.065 for the following: 

(1) application; 
(2) license by examination; 
(3) license by acceptance of credentials; (4) renewal; 
(5) temporary permit; 
(6) limited permit; 
(7) compact privilege. 



 

 

Sec. 08.84.060. Licensure by acceptance of credentials. The board may license without examination 
an applicant who is a physical therapist, physical therapist assistant, occupational therapist, or 
occupational therapy assistant licensed under the laws of another state, if the requirements for licensure 
in that state were, at the date of the applicant's licensure, substantially equal to the requirements in this 
state. 

Sec. 08.84.065. Temporary permit. (a) The board may issue a nonrenewable temporary permit to an 
applicant for licensure by acceptance of credentials or by examination who 

(1) meets the requirements of 
(A) AS 08.84.030(a)(1) or (b)(1); or 
(B) AS 08.84.032(a)(2) and (4) or (b)(2) and (4); and 

(2) pays the required fee. 
(b) A temporary permit issued to an applicant for licensure by acceptance of credentials is valid for eight 
months 

or until the board considers the applicant’s application for acceptance of credentials, whichever occurs 
first. 
(c) A temporary permit issued to an applicant for licensure as a physical therapist or physical therapist 
assistant by examination is valid for eight months or until the results of the first examination for which the 
applicant is scheduled are published, whichever occurs first. If the applicant fails to take the first 
examination for which the applicant is 

scheduled, the applicant's temporary permit lapses the day of the examination. 
(d) A temporary permit issued to an applicant who is a graduate of a foreign school of physical therapy or 

occupational therapy located outside the United States is valid until the results of the first examination for 
which the applicant is scheduled are published following completion of the internship required under AS 
08.84.032. 

(e) A temporary permit issued to an applicant for licensure as an occupational therapist or occupational 
therapy assistant by examination is valid for eight months or until the results of the examination for which 
the applicant is scheduled are published, whichever occurs first. If the applicant fails to take an 
examination for which the applicant is scheduled the applicant’s temporary permit lapses on the day of 
the examination. 

Sec. 08.84.070. Registration fee. [Repealed, Sec. 8 ch 49 SLA 1969.] 

Sec. 08.84.075. Limited permit. (a) The board may issue a limited permit to a person to practice 
occupational therapy in the state as a visiting, nonresident occupational therapist or occupational therapy 
assistant, if the person 

(1) applies on the form provided by the board; 
(2) has not previously been denied occupational therapy licensure in the state; 
(3) is licensed to practice occupational therapy in another state or satisfies the requirements for 
certification by 



 

 

the American Occupational Therapy Association; 
(4) provides proof satisfactory to the board that the person will not practice in the state for more than 120 
days 

in the calendar year for which the permit is issued; and (5) pays the fee required under AS 08.84.050. 

(b) The board may issue a limited permit to a person to practice physical therapy in the state as a visiting, 
nonresident physical therapist or physical therapist assistant, if the person 

(1) applies on the form provided by the board; 
-3- 

(2) has not previously been denied physical therapy licensure in the state; 
(3) is licensed to practice physical therapy in another state; 
(4) provides proof satisfactory to the board that the person will not practice in the state for more than 120 
days 

in the calendar year for which the permit is issued; and (5) pays the fee required under AS 08.84.050. 

(c) A limited permit is valid for a period of 120 consecutive days in a calendar year. (d) A person may not 
receive more than 

(1) one limited permit to practice occupational therapy or physical therapy in a 12-month period; and 
(2) three limited permits to practice occupational therapy or physical therapy during the person's lifetime. 

Sec. 08.84.080. Examinations. The board shall examine applicants for licensure under this chapter at 
the times and places it determines. 

Sec. 08.84.090. Licensure. The board shall license an applicant who meets the qualifications for 
licensure under this chapter and shall issue a license certificate to each person licensed. A license 
certificate is prima facie evidence of the right of the person to hold out as a licensed physical therapist, 
licensed physical therapist assistant, licensed occupational therapist, or licensed occupational therapy 
assistant. 

Sec. 08.84.100. Renewal of license. (a) [Repealed, § 49 ch 94 SLA 1987.] 
(b) If the license remains lapsed for more than three years, the board may require the applicant to submit 
proof, 

satisfactory to the board, of continued competency. 
(c) A license may not be renewed unless the applicant submits proof of continued competence to practice 
physical 

therapy or occupational therapy in a manner established by the board in regulations adopted under AS 
08.84.010(b). 

Sec. 08.84.110. Renewal fee. [Repealed, Sec. 8 ch 49 SLA 1969.] 

Sec. 08.84.120. Refusal, revocation, and suspension of license; discipline. (a) The board may refuse 
to license an applicant, may refuse to renew the license of a person, may discipline a person, and may 
suspend or revoke the license of a person who 



 

 

Practicing or offering to practice beyond the scope of the practice of physical therapy. 
Acting in a manner inconsistent with generally accepted standards of physical therapy practice, 
regardless of whether actual injury to the patient is established. 

(1) has obtained or attempted to obtain a license by fraud or material misrepresentation; 

(2) uses drugs or alcohol in any manner that affects the person’s ability to practice physical therapy or 
occupational therapy competently and safely; 

(3) has been convicted of a state or federal felony or other crime that effects the person’s ability to 
practice competently and safely; 

(4) is guilty, in the judgement of the board, of gross negligence or malpractice or has engaged in conduct 
contrary to the recognized standards of ethics of the physical therapy profession or the occupational 
therapy profession; 

(5) has continued to practice physical therapy or occupational therapy after becoming unfit because of 
physical or mental disability; 

(6) has failed to refer a patient to another qualified professional when the patient's condition is beyond the 
training or ability of the person; 

(7) as a physical therapist assistant, has attempted to practice physical therapy that has not been 
initiated, supervised, and terminated by a licensed physical therapist; 

(8) as an occupational therapy assistant, has attempted to practice occupational therapy that has not 
been supervised by a licensed occupational therapist; or 

(9) has failed to comply with this chapter, a regulation adopted under this chapter, or an order of the 
board. (b) The refusal or suspension of a license may be modified or rescinded if the person has been 
rehabilitated to the satisfaction of the board. 
 
(c) The board may not impose disciplinary sanctions on a licensee for the evaluation, diagnosis, or 
treatment of a person through audio, video, or data communications when physically separated from the 
person if the licensee 
 
(1) or another licensed health care provider is available to provide follow-up care; 
(2) requests that the person consent to sending a copy of all records of the encounter to a primary care 
provider 

if the licensee is not the person's primary care provider and, if the person consents, the licensee sends 
the records to the person's primary care provider; and 

(3) meets the requirements established by the board in regulation. 
(d) The board shall adopt regulations restricting the evaluation, diagnosis, supervision, and treatment of a 
person 

as authorized under (c) of this section by establishing standards of care, including standards for training, 
confidentiality, supervision, practice, and related issues. 

Commented [SR6]:  Need to renumber 
accordingly 
Commented [7]: Add MPA to existing 
08.84.150 (regulation project to look at changing 
the bulleted list in 08.84.160?) 
Commented [8]: Should be 08.84.150 I 
think? 



 

 

 

ARTICLE 3. UNLAWFUL ACTS 

Section 

-4- 

130. False claim of license prohibited 
140. Penalty for fraud in obtaining license 150. License required; exceptions 
160. Scope of authorized practice 
180. Investigation 

Sec. 08.84.130. False claim of license prohibited. (a) A person not licensed as a physical therapist, 
or whose license is suspended or revoked or has lapsed, who uses in connection with the 
person's name the words or letters "P.T.," "Physical Therapist," "L.P.T.," "Licensed Physical 
Therapist," or other letters, words, or insignia indicating or implying that the person is a licensed 
physical therapist, or who, in any way, orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds out as 
a licensed physical therapist, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 

(b) A person not licensed as a physical therapist assistant, or whose license is suspended or 
revoked or has lapsed, who, in any way, orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds out as 
a licensed physical therapist assistant is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 

(c) A person not licensed as an occupational therapist, or whose license is suspended or revoked, 
or whose license is lapsed, who uses in connection with the person's name the words "Licensed 
Occupational Therapist,” or other letters, words, or insignia indicating or implying that the person 
is a licensed occupational therapist, or who orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds 
out as a licensed occupational therapist is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 

(d) A person not licensed as an occupational therapy assistant, or whose license is suspended or 
revoked, or whose license is lapsed, who orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds out 
as a licensed occupational therapy assistant is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 

Sec. 08.84.140. Penalty for fraud in obtaining license. A person who willfully makes a false oath or 
affirmation or who obtains or attempts to obtain a license by a fraudulent representation is guilty 
of a class B misdemeanor. 

Sec. 08.84.150. License required; exceptions. (a) It is unlawful for a person to practice physical 
therapy without being licensed under this chapter unless the person is 

(1) a student in an accredited physical therapy program; 

(2) a graduate of a foreign school of physical therapy fulfilling the internship requirement of AS 
08.84.032, and then only unless under the continuous direction and immediate supervision of a 
physical therapist; 

(3) issued a limited permit under AS 08.84.075; or 

(4) granted a compact privilege under AS 08.84.188. 



 

 

(b) A person may not provide services that the person describes as occupational therapy without 
being licensed 

under this chapter unless the person is 
(1) a student in an accredited occupational therapy program or in a supervised field work 
program; 
(2) a graduate of a foreign school of occupational therapy fulfilling the internship requirement of 
AS 08.84.032, 

and then only unless under the continuous direction and immediate supervision of an 
occupational therapist; 
(3) an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant employed by the United States 
Government 

while in the discharge of official duties; 
(4) granted a limited permit under AS 08.84.075; 
(5) licensed under this title and uses occupational therapy skills in the practice of the profession 
for which the 

license is issued; or 
(6) employed as a teacher or teacher’s aide by an educational institution and is required to use 
occupational 

therapy skills during the course of employment, if 
(A) the occupational therapy skills are used under a program implemented by the employer and 
developed 

by a licensed occupational therapist; 
(B) the employer maintains direct supervision of the person’s use of occupational therapy skills; 
and (C) the person does not represent to 

(i) be an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant; and (ii) practice occupational 
therapy. 

 
Sec. 08.84.160. Scope of authorized practice. This chapter does not authorize a person to practice 
medicine, osteopathy, chiropractic, or other method of healing, but only to practice physical 
therapy or occupational therapy. 

Sec. 08.84.170. Penalty. [Repealed, Sec. 7 ch 46 SLA 1986.] 

Sec. 08.84.180. Investigation. The board shall request appropriate authorities to conduct 
investigations of every supposed violation of this chapter coming to its notice and shall report all 
cases that in the judgment of the board warrant prosecution to the proper law enforcement 
officials. 

Sec. 08.84.185. Limits or conditions on license; discipline. [Repealed, Sec. 49 ch 94 SLA 1987.] -5- 

 



 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 3A. 
INTERSTATE PHYSICAL THERAPY LICENSURE COMPACT 

Sec. 08.84.188. Compact enacted. The Interstate Physical Therapy Licensure Compact as 
contained in this section is enacted into law and entered into on behalf of the state with all other 
states and jurisdictions legally joining it in a form substantially as follows: 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Compact is to facilitate interstate practice of physical therapy with the goal of 
improving public access to physical therapy services. The practice of physical therapy occurs in 
the state where the patient or client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter. The 
Compact preserves the regulatory authority of states to protect public health and safety through 
the current system of state licensure. This Compact is designed to achieve the following 
objectives: 

(1) Increase public access to physical therapy services by providing for the mutual recognition of 
other member state licenses; 

(2) Enhance the states' ability to protect the public's health and safety; 
(3) Encourage the cooperation of member states in regulating multistate physical therapy 
practice; 
(4) Support spouses of relocating military members; 
(5) Enhance the exchange of licensure, investigative, and disciplinary information between 
member states; and (6) Allow a remote state to hold a provider of services with a compact 
privilege in that state accountable to that 

state's practice standards. 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS 

As used in this Compact, and except as otherwise provided, the following definitions shall apply: 
(1) "Active duty military" means full-time duty status in the active uniformed service of the United 
States, including members of the National Guard and Reserve on active duty orders pursuant to 
10 U.S.C. Chapter 1209 and 

1211.(2) "Adverse action" means disciplinary action taken by a physical therapy licensing board 
based upon misconduct, unacceptable performance, or a combination of both. 

(3) "Alternative program" means a non-disciplinary monitoring or practice remediation process 
approved by a physical therapy licensing board. This includes substance abuse issues. 

(4) "Compact privilege" means the authorization granted by a remote state to allow a licensee 
from another member state to practice as a physical therapist or work as a physical therapist 
assistant in the remote state under its laws and rules. The practice of physical therapy occurs in 
the member state where the patient or client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter. 



 

 

(5) "Continuing competence" means a requirement, as a condition of license renewal, to provide 
evidence of participation in, and/or completion of, educational and professional activities relevant 
to practice or area of work. 

(6) "Data system" means a repository of information about licensees, including examination, 
licensure, investigative, compact privilege, and adverse action. 

(7) "Encumbered license" means a license that a physical therapy licensing board has limited in 
any way. 

(8) "Executive Board" means a group of directors elected or appointed to act on behalf of, and 
within the powers granted to them by, the Commission. 

(9) "Home state" means the member state that is the licensee's primary state of residence. 

(10) "Investigative information" means information, records, and documents received or 
generated by a physical therapy licensing board pursuant to an investigation. 

(11) "Jurisprudence requirement" means the assessment of an individual's knowledge of the laws 
and rules governing the practice of physical therapy in a state. 

(12) "Licensee" means an individual who currently holds an authorization from the state to 
practice as a physical therapist or to work as a physical therapist assistant. 

(13) "Member state" means a state that has enacted the Compact. 

(14) "Party state" means any member state in which a licensee holds a current license or compact 
privilege or is applying for a license or compact privilege. 

(15) "Physical therapist" means an individual who is licensed by a state to practice physical 
therapy. 

(16) "Physical therapist assistant" means an individual who is licensed or certified by a state and 
who assists the physical therapist in selected components of physical therapy. 

(17) "Physical therapy," "physical therapy practice," and "the practice of physical therapy" mean 
the care and services provided by or under the direction and supervision of a licensed physical 
therapist. 

(18) "Physical Therapy Compact Commission" or "Commission" means the national 
administrative body whose membership consists of all states that have enacted the Compact. 

(19) "Physical therapy licensing board" or "licensing board" means the agency of a state that is 
responsible for the licensing and regulation of physical therapists and physical therapist 
assistants. 

-6- 

(20) "Remote state" means a member state other than the home state, where a licensee is 
exercising or seeking to exercise the compact privilege. 



 

 

(21) "Rule" means a regulation, principle, or directive promulgated by the Commission that has 
the force of law. 

(22) "State" means any state, commonwealth, district, or territory of the United States of America 
that regulates the practice of physical therapy. 

SECTION 3. STATE PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT 

(a) To participate in the Compact, a state must: 
(1) Participate fully in the Commission's data system, including using the Commission's unique 
identifier as 

defined in rules; 
(2) Have a mechanism in place for receiving and investigating complaints about licensees; 
(3) Notify the Commission, in compliance with the terms of the Compact and rules, of any adverse 
action or the 

availability of investigative information regarding a licensee; 
(4) Fully implement a criminal background check requirement, within a time frame established by 
rule, by 

receiving the results of the Federal Bureau of Investigation record search on criminal background 
checks and use the results in making licensure decisions in accordance with Section 3(b); 

(5) Comply with the rules of the Commission; 

(6) Utilize a recognized national examination as a requirement for licensure pursuant to the rules 
of the Commission; and 

(7) Have continuing competence requirements as a condition for license renewal. 
(b) Upon adoption of this statute, the member state shall have the authority to obtain biometric-
based information 

from each physical therapy licensure applicant and submit this information to the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation for a criminal background check in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §534 and 34 U.S.C. 
§40316. 

(c) A member state shall grant the compact privilege to a licensee holding a valid unencumbered 
license in another member state in accordance with the terms of the Compact and rules. 

(d) Member states may charge a fee for granting a compact privilege. 

SECTION 4. COMPACT PRIVILEGE 

(a) To exercise the compact privilege under the terms and provisions of the Compact, the licensee 
shall 
(1) Hold a license in the home state; 
(2) Have no encumbrance on any state license; 
(3) Be eligible for a compact privilege in any member state in accordance with Section 4(d), (g) 
and (h); (4) Have not had any adverse action against any license or compact privilege within the 



 

 

previous 2 years; (5) Notify the Commission that the licensee is seeking the compact privilege 
within a remote state; 

(6) Pay any applicable fees, including any state fee, for the compact privilege; 

(7) Meet any jurisprudence requirements established by the remote state in which the licensee is 
seeking a compact privilege; and 

(8) Report to the Commission adverse action taken by any nonmember state within 30 days from 
the date the adverse action is taken. 

(b) The compact privilege is valid until the expiration date of the home license. The licensee must 
comply with the requirements of Section 4(a) to maintain the compact privilege in the remote 
state. 

(c) A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state under the compact privilege shall 
function within the laws and regulations of the remote state. 

(d) A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state is subject to that state's regulatory 
authority. A remote state may, in accordance with due process and that state's laws, remove a 
licensee's compact privilege in the remote state for a specific period of time, impose fines, and/or 
take any other necessary actions to protect the health and safety of its citizens. The licensee is 
not eligible for a compact privilege in any state until the specific time for removal has passed and 
all fines are paid. 

(e) If a home state license is encumbered, the licensee shall lose the compact privilege in any 
remote state until the following occur: 

(1) The home state license is no longer encumbered; and 

(2) Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action. 
(f) Once an encumbered license in the home state is restored to good standing, the licensee must 
meet the 

requirements of Section 4(a) to obtain a compact privilege in any remote state. 
(g) If a licensee's compact privilege in any remote state is removed, the individual shall lose the 
compact privilege 

in any remote state until the following occur: 
(1) The specific period of time for which the compact privilege was removed has ended; (2) All 
fines have been paid; and 
(3) Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action. 

(h) Once the requirements of Section 4(g) have been met, the licensee must meet the 
requirements in Section 4(a) to obtain a compact privilege in a remote state. 

-7- 

SECTION 5. ACTIVE DUTY MILITARY PERSONNEL OR THEIR SPOUSES 



 

 

A licensee who is active duty military or is the spouse of an individual who is active duty military 
may designate one of the following as the home state: 

(1) Home of record; 
(2) Permanent Change of Station (PCS); or 
(3) State of current residence if it is different than the PCS state or home of record. 

SECTION 6. ADVERSE ACTIONS 

(a) A home state shall have exclusive power to impose adverse action against a license issued by 
the home state. 

(b) A home state may take adverse action based on the investigative information of a remote state, 
so long as the home state follows its own procedures for imposing adverse action. 

(c) Nothing in this Compact shall override a member state's decision that participation in an 
alternative program may be used in lieu of adverse action and that such participation shall remain 
non-public if required by the member state's laws. Member states must require licensees who 
enter any alternative programs in lieu of discipline to agree not to practice in any other member 
state during the term of the alternative program without prior authorization from such other 
member state. 

(d) Any member state may investigate actual or alleged violations of the statutes and rules 
authorizing the practice of physical therapy in any other member state in which a physical 
therapist or physical therapist assistant holds a license or compact privilege. 

(e) A remote state shall have the authority to: 
(1) Take adverse actions as set forth in Section 4(d) against a licensee's compact privilege in the 
state; (2) Issue subpoenas for both hearings and investigations that require the attendance and 
testimony of 

witnesses, and the production of evidence. Subpoenas issued by a physical therapy licensing 
board in a party state for the attendance and testimony of witnesses, and/or the production of 
evidence from another party state, shall be enforced in the latter state by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, according to the practice and procedure of that court applicable to subpoenas issued 
in proceedings pending before it. The issuing authority shall pay any witness fees, travel 
expenses, mileage, and other fees required by the service statutes of the state where the 
witnesses and/or evidence are located; and 

(3) If otherwise permitted by state law, recover from the licensee the costs of investigations and 
disposition of cases resulting from any adverse action taken against that licensee. 

(f) Joint Investigations 
(1) In addition to the authority granted to a member state by its respective physical therapy 
practice act or other 

applicable state law, a member state may participate with other member states in joint 
investigations of licensees. 
(2) Member states shall share any investigative, litigation, or compliance materials in furtherance 
of any joint or 



 

 

individual investigation initiated under the Compact. 

SECTION 7. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PHYSICAL THERAPY COMPACT COMMISSION 

(a) The Compact member states hereby create and establish a joint public agency known as the 
Physical Therapy Compact Commission. 

(1) The Commission is an instrumentality of the Compact states. 

(2) Venue is proper and judicial proceedings by or against the Commission shall be brought solely 
and exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction where the principal office of the Commission 
is located. The Commission may waive venue and jurisdictional defenses to the extent it adopts or 
consents to participate in alternative dispute resolution proceedings. 

(3) Nothing in this Compact shall be construed to be a waiver of sovereign immunity. (b) 
Membership, Voting, and Meetings 

(1) Each member state shall have and be limited to one delegate selected by that member state's 
licensing board. 

(2) The delegate shall be a current member of the licensing board, who is a physical therapist, 
physical therapist assistant, public member, or the board administrator. 

(3) Any delegate may be removed or suspended from office as provided by the law of the state 
from which the delegate is appointed. 

(4) The member state board shall fill any vacancy occurring in the Commission. 

(5) Each delegate shall be entitled to one vote with regard to the promulgation of rules and 
creation of bylaws and shall otherwise have an opportunity to participate in the business and 
affairs of the Commission. 

(6) A delegate shall vote in person or by such other means as provided in the bylaws. The bylaws 
may provide for delegates' participation in meetings by telephone or other means of 
communication. 

(7) The Commission shall meet at least once during each calendar year. Additional meetings shall 
be held as set forth in the bylaws. 

(c) The Commission shall have the following powers and duties: (1) Establish the fiscal year of the 
Commission; 
(2) Establish bylaws; 

-8- 

(3) Maintain its financial records in accordance with the bylaws; 
(4) Meet and take such actions as are consistent with the provisions of this Compact and the 
bylaws; 
(5) Promulgate uniform rules to facilitate and coordinate implementation and administration of 
this Compact. 



 

 

The rules shall have the force and effect of law and shall be binding in all member states; 
(6) Bring and prosecute legal proceedings or actions in the name of the Commission, provided 
that the standing 

of any state physical therapy licensing board to sue or be sued under applicable law shall not be 
affected; (7) Purchase and maintain insurance and bonds; 

state; (8) Borrow, accept, or contract for services of personnel, including, but not limited to, 
employees of a member 

(9) Hire employees, elect or appoint officers, fix compensation, define duties, grant such 
individuals appropriate authority to carry out the purposes of the Compact, and to establish the 
Commission's personnel policies and programs relating to conflicts of interest, qualifications of 
personnel, and other related personnel matters; 

(10) Accept any and all appropriate donations and grants of money, equipment, supplies, 
materials and services, and to receive, utilize and dispose of the same; provided that at all times 
the Commission shall avoid any appearance of impropriety and/or conflict of interest; 

(11) Lease, purchase, accept appropriate gifts or donations of, or otherwise to own, hold, improve 
or use, any property, real, personal or mixed; provided that at all times the Commission shall 
avoid any appearance of impropriety; (12) Sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange, 
abandon, or otherwise dispose of any property, real, 

personal, or mixed; 
(13) Establish a budget and make expenditures; 
(14) Borrow money; 
(15) Appoint committees, including standing committees composed of members, state regulators, 
state 

legislators or their representatives, and consumer representatives, and such other interested 
persons as may be designated in this Compact and the bylaws; 

(16) Provide and receive information from, and cooperate with, law enforcement agencies; 
(17) Establish and elect an Executive Board; and 
(18) Perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the purposes of 
this Compact 

consistent with the state regulation of physical therapy licensure and practice. 
(d) The Executive Board shall have the power to act on behalf of the Commission according to the 
terms of this 

Compact. 
(1) The Executive Board shall be composed of nine members: 

(A) Seven voting members who are elected by the Commission from the current membership of 
the Commission; 

(B) One ex-officio, nonvoting member from the recognized national physical therapy professional 
association; and 



 

 

(C) One ex-officio, nonvoting member from the recognized membership organization of the 
physical therapy licensing boards. 

(2) The ex-officio members will be selected by their respective organizations. 
(3) The Commission may remove any member of the Executive Board as provided in bylaws. (4) 
The Executive Board shall meet at least annually. 
(5) The Executive Board shall have the following duties and responsibilities: 

(A) Recommend to the entire Commission changes to the rules or bylaws, changes to this 
Compact legislation, fees paid by Compact member states such as annual dues, and any 
commission Compact fee charged to licensees for the compact privilege; 

(B) Ensure Compact administration services are appropriately provided, contractual or otherwise; 
(C) Prepare and recommend the budget; 
(D) Maintain financial records on behalf of the Commission; 
(E) Monitor Compact compliance of member states and provide compliance reports to the 
Commission; (F) Establish additional committees as necessary; and 

(G) Other duties as provided in rules or bylaws. (e) Meetings of the Commission 

(1) All meetings shall be open to the public, and public notice of meetings shall be given in the 
same manner as required under the rulemaking provisions in Section 9. 

(2) The Commission or the Executive Board or other committees of the Commission may convene 
in a closed, non-public meeting if the Commission or Executive Board or other committees of the 
Commission must discuss: 

(A) Non-compliance of a member state with its obligations under the Compact; 

(B) The employment, compensation, discipline or other matters, practices or procedures related to 
specific employees or other matters related to the Commission's internal personnel practices and 
procedures; 

(C) Current, threatened, or reasonably anticipated litigation; 
(D) Negotiation of contracts for the purchase, lease, or sale of goods, services, or real estate; 
(E) Accusing any person of a crime or formally censuring any person; 
(F) Disclosure of trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or 
confidential; (G) Disclosure of information of a personal nature where disclosure would constitute 
a clearly unwarranted 

invasion of personal privacy; 

-9- 

(H) Disclosure of investigative records compiled for law enforcement purposes; 

(I) Disclosure of information related to any investigative reports prepared by or on behalf of or for 
use of the Commission or other committee charged with responsibility of investigation or 
determination of compliance issues pursuant to the Compact; or 



 

 

(J) Matters specifically exempted from disclosure by federal or member state statute. 
(3) If a meeting, or portion of a meeting, is closed pursuant to this provision, the Commission's 

legal counsel or designee shall certify that the meeting may be closed and shall reference each 
relevant exempting provision. 

(4) The Commission shall keep minutes that fully and clearly describe all matters discussed in a 
meeting and shall provide a full and accurate summary of actions taken, and the reasons 
therefore, including a description of the views expressed. All documents considered in 
connection with an action shall be identified in such minutes. All minutes and documents of a 
closed meeting shall remain under seal, subject to release by a majority vote of the Commission 
or order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

(f) Financing of the Commission 
(1) The Commission shall pay, or provide for the payment of, the reasonable expenses of its 

establishment, organization, and ongoing activities. 
(2)The Commission may accept any and all appropriate revenue sources,donations,andgrantsof 

money, equipment, supplies, materials, and services. 
(3) The Commission may levy on and collect an annual assessment from each member state or 

impose fees on other parties to cover the cost of the operations and activities of the Commission 
and its staff, which must be in a total amount sufficient to cover its annual budget as approved 
each year for which revenue is not provided by other sources. The aggregate annual assessment 
amount shall be allocated based upon a formula to be determined by the Commission, which shall 
promulgate a rule binding upon all member states. 

(4) The Commission shall not incur obligations of any kind prior to securing the funds adequate to 
meet the same; nor shall the Commission pledge the. credit of any of the member states, except 
by and with the authority of the member state. 

(5) The Commission shall keep accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements. The receipts 
and disbursements of the Commission shall be subject to the audit and accounting procedures 
established under its bylaws. However, all receipts and disbursements of funds handled by the 
Commission shall be audited yearly by a certified or licensed public accountant, and the report of 
the audit shall be included in and become part of the annual report of the Commission. 

(g) Qualified Immunity, Defense, and Indemnification 
(1) The members, officers, executive director, employees and representatives of the Commission 

shall be immune from suit and liability, either personally or in their official capacity, for any claim 
for damage to or loss of property or personal injury or other civil liability caused by or arising out 
of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that occurred, or that the person against whom the 
claim is made had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties or responsibilities; provided that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed 
to protect any such person from suit and/or liability for any damage, loss, injury, or liability 
caused by the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. 



 

 

(2) The Commission shall defend any member, officer, executive director, employee or 
representative of the Commission in any civil action seeking to impose liability arising out of any 
actual or alleged act, error, or omission that occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties, or responsibilities, or that the person against whom the claim is made had a 
reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties, or 
responsibilities; provided that nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit that person from 
retaining his or her own counsel; and provided further, that the actual or alleged act, error, or 
omission did not result from that person's intentional or willful or wanton misconduct. 

(3) The Commission shall indemnify and hold harmless any member, officer, executive director, 
employee, or representative of the Commission for the amount of any settlement or judgment 
obtained against that person arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that 
occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties, or responsibilities, or that such 
person had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties, or responsibilities, provided that the actual or alleged act, error, or omission 
did not result from the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. 

-10- 

SECTION 8. DATA SYSTEM 

(a) The Commission shall provide for the development, maintenance, and utilization of a 
coordinated database and reporting system containing licensure, adverse action, and 
investigative information on all licensed individuals in member states. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of state law to the contrary, a member state shall submit a 
uniform data set to the data system on all individuals to whom this Compact is applicable as 
required by the rules of the Commission, including: 

(1) Identifyinginformation; 
(2) Licensure data; 
(3) Adverse actions against a license or compact privilege; 
(4) Non-confidential information related to alternative program participation; 
(5) Any denial of application for licensure, and the reason(s) for such denial; and 
(6) Other information that may facilitate the administration of this Compact, as determined by the 

rules of the Commission. 
(c) Investigative information pertaining to a licensee in any member state will only be available to 
other 

party states. 
(d) The Commission shall promptly notify all member states of any adverse action taken against a 

licensee or an individual applying for a license. Adverse action information pertaining to a 
licensee in any member state will be available to any other member state. 

(e) Member states contributing information to the data system may designate information that 
may not be shared with the public without the express permission of the contributing state. 



 

 

(f) Any information submitted to the data system that is subsequently required to be expunged by 
the laws of the member state contributing the information shall be removed from the data system. 

SECTION 9. RULEMAKING 

(a) The Commission shall exercise its rulemaking powers pursuant to the criteria set forth in this 
Section and the rules adopted thereunder. Rules and amendments shall become binding as of the 
date specified in each rule or amendment. 

(b) If a majority of the legislatures of the member states rejects a rule, by enactment of a statute or 
resolution in the same manner used to adopt the Compact within 4 years of the date of adoption 
of the rule, then such rule shall have no further force and effect in any member state. 

(c) Rules or amendments to the rules shall be adopted at a regular or special meeting of the 
Commission. 

(d)Prior to promulgation and adoption of a final rule or rules by theCommission,andatleast thirty 
(30) days in advance of the meeting at which the rule will be considered and voted upon, the 
Commission shall file a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking: 

(1) On the website of the Commission or other publicly accessible platform; and 

(2) On the website of each member state physical therapy licensing board or other publicly 
accessible platform or the publication in which each state would otherwise publish proposed 
rules. (e) The Notice of Proposed Rulemaking shall include: 

(1) The proposed time, date, and location of the meeting in which the rule will be considered and 
voted upon; 

(2) The text of the proposed rule or amendment and the reason for the proposed rule; 
(3) A request for comments on the proposed rule from any interested person; and 
(4) The manner in which interested persons may submit notice to the Commission of their 
intention to 

attend the public hearing and any written comments. 
(f) Prior to adoption of a proposed rule, the Commission shall allow persons to submit written 
data, facts, 

opinions, and arguments, which shall be made available to the public. 
(g) The Commission shall grant an opportunity for a public hearing before it adopts a rule or 
amendment if 

a hearing is requested by: 
(1) At least twenty-five (25) persons; 
(2) A state or federal governmental subdivision or agency; or (3) An association having at least 
twenty-five (25) members. 

(h) If a hearing is held on the proposed rule or amendment, the Commission shall publish the 
place, time, and date of the scheduled public hearing. If the hearing is held via electronic means, 
the Commission shall publish the mechanism for access to the electronic hearing. 



 

 

(1) All persons wishing to be heard at the hearing shall notify the executive director of the 
Commission or other designated member in writing of their desire to appear and testify at the 
hearing not less than five (5) business days before the scheduled date of the hearing. 

-11- 

(2) Hearings shall be conducted in a manner providing each person who wishes to comment a fair 
and reasonable opportunity to comment orally or in writing. 

(3) All hearings will be recorded. A copy oftherecordingwillbemadeavailableonrequest. 

(4) Nothing in this section shall be construed as requiring a separate hearing on each rule. Rules 
may be grouped for the convenience of the Commission at hearings required by this section. 

(i) Following the scheduled hearing date, or by the close of business on the scheduled hearing 
date if the hearing was not held, the Commission shall consider all written and oral comments 
received. 

(j) If no written notice of intent to attend the public hearing by interested parties is received, the 
Commission may proceed with promulgation of the proposed rule without a public hearing. 

(k) The Commission shall, by majority vote of all members, take final action on the proposed rule 
and shall determine the effective date of the rule, if any, based on the rulemaking record and the 
full text of the rule. 

(l) Upon determination that an emergency exists, the Commission may consider and adopt an 
emergency rule without prior notice, opportunity for comment, or hearing, provided that the usual 
rulemaking procedures provided in the Compact and in this section shall be retroactively applied 
to the rule as soon as reasonably possible, in no event later than ninety (90) days after the 
effective date of the rule. Forthe purposes of this provision, an emergency rule is one that must be 
adoptedimmediatelyin order to: 

(1) Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare; 
(2) Prevent a loss of Commission or member state funds; 
(3) Meetadeadlineforthepromulgationofanadministrativerulethatisestablishedbyfederallawor 

rule; or 
(4) Protect public health and safety. 

(m) The Commission or an authorized committee of the Commission may direct revisions to a 
previously adopted rule or amendment for purposes of correcting typographical errors, errors in 
format, errors in consistency, or grammatical errors. Public notice of any revisions shall be 
posted on the website of the Commission. The revision shall be subject to challenge by any 
person for a period of thirty (30) days after posting. The revision may be challenged only on 
grounds that the revision results in a material change to a rule. A challenge shall be made in 
writing and delivered to the chair of the Commission prior to the end of the notice period. If no 
challenge is made, the revision will take effect without further action. If the revision is challenged, 
the revision may not take effect without the approval of the Commission. 

SECTION 10. OVERSIGHT, DISPUTE RESOLUTION, AND ENFORCEMENT 



 

 

(a) Oversight 
(1) The executive, legislative, and judicial branches of state government in each member state 
shall 

enforce this Compact and take all actions necessary and appropriate to effectuate the Compact's 
purposes and intent. The provisions of this Compact and the rules promulgated hereunder shall 
have standing as statutory law. 

(2) All courts shall take judicial notice of the Compact and the rules in any judicial or 
administrative proceeding in a member state pertaining to the subject matter of this Compact 
which may affect the powers, responsibilities or actions of the Commission. 

(3) The Commission shall be entitled to receive service of process in any such proceeding and 
shall have standing to intervene in such a proceeding for all purposes. Failure to provide service 
of process to the Commission shall render a judgment or order void as to the Commission, this 
Compact, or promulgated rules. 

(b) Default, Technical Assistance, and Termination 
(1) If the Commission determines that a member state has defaulted in the performance of its 

obligations or responsibilities under this Compact or thepromulgatedrules,theCommissionshall: 
(A) Provide written notice to the defaulting state and other member states of the nature of the 

default, the proposed means of curing the default and/or any other action to be taken by the 
Commission; and (B) Provide remedial training and specific technical assistance regarding the 
default. 

(2) Ifastateindefaultfailstocurethedefault,thedefaultingstatemaybeterminatedfromtheCompact 
uponanaffirmativevoteofamajorityofthememberstates, and all rights, privileges and benefits 
conferred by this Compact may be terminated on the effective date of termination. A cure of the 
default does not relieve the offending state of obligations or liabilities incurred during the period 
of default. 

(3) Termination of membership in the Compact shall be imposed only after all other means of 
securing compliance have been exhausted. Notice of intent to suspend or terminate shall be given 
by the Commission to the governor, the majority and minority leaders of the defaulting state's 
legislature, and each of the member states. 

-12- 

(4) A state that has been terminated is responsible for all assessments, obligations, and liabilities 
incurred through the effective date of termination, including obligations that extend beyond the 
effective date of termination. 

(5) The Commission shall not bear any costs related to a state that is found to be in default or that 
has been terminated from the Compact, unless agreed upon in writing between the Commission 
and the defaulting state. 

(6) The defaulting state may appeal the action of the Commission by petitioning the U.S. District 
Court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the Commission has its principal 



 

 

offices. The prevailing member shall 
beawardedallcostsofsuchlitigation,includingreasonableattorney'sfees. 

(c) Dispute Resolution 
(1) Upon request by a member state, the Commission shall attempt to resolve disputes related to 
the 

Compact that arise among member states and between member and non-member states. 
(2) The Commission shall promulgate a rule providing for both mediation and binding dispute 

resolution for disputes as appropriate. (d) Enforcement 

(1) The Commission, in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, shall enforce the provisions and 
rules of this Compact. 

(2) By majority vote, the Commission may initiate legal action in the United States District Court 
for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the Commission has its principal offices 
against a member state in default to enforce compliance with the provisions of the Compact and 
its promulgated rules and bylaws. The relief sought may include both injunctive relief and 
damages. In the event judicial enforcement is necessary, the prevailing member shall be awarded 
all costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney's fees. 

(3) The remedies herein shall not be the exclusive remedies of the Commission. The Commission 
may pursue any other remedies available under federal or state law. 

SECTION 11. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INTERSTATE COMMISSION FOR PHYSICAL 
THERAPY PRACTICE AND ASSOCIATED RULES, WITHDRAWAL, AND AMENDMENT 

(a) The Compact shall come into effect on the date on which the Compact statute is enacted into 
law in the tenth member state. The provisions, which become effective at that time, shall be 
limited to the powers granted to the Commission relating to assembly and the promulgation of 
rules. Thereafter, the Commission shall meet and exercise rulemaking powers necessary to the 
implementation and administration of the Compact. 

(b) Any state that joins the Compact subsequent to the Commission's initial adoption of the rules 
shall be subject to the rules as they exist on the date on which the Compact becomes law in that 
state. Any rule that has been previously adopted by the Commission shall have the full force and 
effect of law on the day the Compactbecomeslawinthatstate. 

(c) AnymemberstatemaywithdrawfromthisCompactbyenactingastatuterepealingthesame. 
(1) A member state's withdrawal shall not take effect until six (6) months after enactment of the 

repealing statute. 
(2) Withdrawal shall not affect the continuing requirement of the withdrawing state's physical 

therapy licensing board to comply with the investigative and adverse action reporting 
requirements of this act prior to the effective date of withdrawal. 



 

 

(d) Nothing contained in this Compact shall be construed to invalidate or prevent any physical 
therapy licensure agreement or other cooperative arrangement between a member state and a 
non- member state that does not conflict with theprovisionsofthisCompact. 

(e) This Compact may be amended by the member states. No amendment to this Compact shall 
become effective and binding upon any member state until it is enacted into the laws of all 
member states. 

SECTION 12. CONSTRUCTION AND SEVERABILITY 

This Compact shall be liberally construed so as to effectuate the purposes thereof. The provisions 
of this Compact shall be severable and if any phrase, clause, sentence or provision of this 
Compact is declared to be contrary to the constitution of any party state or of the United States or 
the applicability thereof to any government, agency, person or circumstance is held invalid, the 
validity of the remainder of this Compact and the applicability thereof to any government, agency, 
person or circumstance shall not be affected thereby. If this Compact shall be held contrary to the 
constitution of any party state, the Compact shall remain in full force and effect as to the 
remaining party states and in full force and effect as to the party state affected as to all severable 
matters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ARTICLE 3A. 
INTERSTATE PHYSICAL THERAPY LICENSURE COMPACT 

Sec. 08.84.188. Compact enacted. The Interstate Physical Therapy Licensure Compact as 
contained in this section is enacted into law and entered into on behalf of the state with all other 
states and jurisdictions legally joining it in a form substantially as follows: 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Compact is to facilitate interstate practice of physical therapy with the goal of 
improving public access to physical therapy services. The practice of physical therapy occurs in 
the state where the patient or client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter. The 
Compact preserves the regulatory authority of states to protect public health and safety through 
the current system of state licensure. This Compact is designed to achieve the following 
objectives: 

(1) Increase public access to physical therapy services by providing for the mutual recognition of 
other member state licenses; 

(2) Enhance the states' ability to protect the public's health and safety; 
(3) Encourage the cooperation of member states in regulating multistate physical therapy 
practice; 
(4) Support spouses of relocating military members; 
(5) Enhance the exchange of licensure, investigative, and disciplinary information between 
member states; and (6) Allow a remote state to hold a provider of services with a compact 
privilege in that state accountable to that 

state's practice standards. 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS 

As used in this Compact, and except as otherwise provided, the following definitions shall apply: 
(1) "Active duty military" means full-time duty status in the active uniformed service of the United 
States, including members of the National Guard and Reserve on active duty orders pursuant to 
10 U.S.C. Chapter 1209 and 

1211.(2) "Adverse action" means disciplinary action taken by a physical therapy licensing board 
based upon misconduct, unacceptable performance, or a combination of both. 

(3) "Alternative program" means a non-disciplinary monitoring or practice remediation process 
approved by a physical therapy licensing board. This includes substance abuse issues. 

(4) "Compact privilege" means the authorization granted by a remote state to allow a licensee 
from another member state to practice as a physical therapist or work as a physical therapist 
assistant in the remote state under its laws and rules. The practice of physical therapy occurs in 
the member state where the patient or client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter. 

(5) "Continuing competence" means a requirement, as a condition of license renewal, to provide 
evidence of participation in, and/or completion of, educational and professional activities relevant 
to practice or area of work. 

Commented [9]: Cannnot change this 
section, per compact requirements. 



 

 

(6) "Data system" means a repository of information about licensees, including examination, 
licensure, investigative, compact privilege, and adverse action. 

(7) "Encumbered license" means a license that a physical therapy licensing board has limited in 
any way. 

(8) "Executive Board" means a group of directors elected or appointed to act on behalf of, and 
within the powers granted to them by, the Commission. 

(9) "Home state" means the member state that is the licensee's primary state of residence. 

(10) "Investigative information" means information, records, and documents received or 
generated by a physical therapy licensing board pursuant to an investigation. 

(11) "Jurisprudence requirement" means the assessment of an individual's knowledge of the laws 
and rules governing the practice of physical therapy in a state. 

(12) "Licensee" means an individual who currently holds an authorization from the state to 
practice as a physical therapist or to work as a physical therapist assistant. 

(13) "Member state" means a state that has enacted the Compact. 

(14) "Party state" means any member state in which a licensee holds a current license or compact 
privilege or is applying for a license or compact privilege. 

(15) "Physical therapist" means an individual who is licensed by a state to practice physical 
therapy. 

(16) "Physical therapist assistant" means an individual who is licensed or certified by a state and 
who assists the physical therapist in selected components of physical therapy. 

(17) "Physical therapy," "physical therapy practice," and "the practice of physical therapy" mean 
the care and services provided by or under the direction and supervision of a licensed physical 
therapist. 

(18) "Physical Therapy Compact Commission" or "Commission" means the national 
administrative body whose membership consists of all states that have enacted the Compact. 

(19) "Physical therapy licensing board" or "licensing board" means the agency of a state that is 
responsible for the licensing and regulation of physical therapists and physical therapist 
assistants. 

-6- 

(20) "Remote state" means a member state other than the home state, where a licensee is 
exercising or seeking to exercise the compact privilege. 

(21) "Rule" means a regulation, principle, or directive promulgated by the Commission that has 
the force of law. 



 

 

(22) "State" means any state, commonwealth, district, or territory of the United States of America 
that regulates the practice of physical therapy. 

SECTION 3. STATE PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT 

(a) To participate in the Compact, a state must: 
(1) Participate fully in the Commission's data system, including using the Commission's unique 
identifier as 

defined in rules; 
(2) Have a mechanism in place for receiving and investigating complaints about licensees; 
(3) Notify the Commission, in compliance with the terms of the Compact and rules, of any adverse 
action or the 

availability of investigative information regarding a licensee; 
(4) Fully implement a criminal background check requirement, within a time frame established by 
rule, by 

receiving the results of the Federal Bureau of Investigation record search on criminal background 
checks and use the results in making licensure decisions in accordance with Section 3(b); 

(5) Comply with the rules of the Commission; 

(6) Utilize a recognized national examination as a requirement for licensure pursuant to the rules 
of the Commission; and 

(7) Have continuing competence requirements as a condition for license renewal. 
(b) Upon adoption of this statute, the member state shall have the authority to obtain biometric-
based information 

from each physical therapy licensure applicant and submit this information to the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation for a criminal background check in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §534 and 34 U.S.C. 
§40316. 

(c) A member state shall grant the compact privilege to a licensee holding a valid unencumbered 
license in another member state in accordance with the terms of the Compact and rules. 

(d) Member states may charge a fee for granting a compact privilege. 

SECTION 4. COMPACT PRIVILEGE 

(a) To exercise the compact privilege under the terms and provisions of the Compact, the licensee 
shall 
(1) Hold a license in the home state; 
(2) Have no encumbrance on any state license; 
(3) Be eligible for a compact privilege in any member state in accordance with Section 4(d), (g) 
and (h); (4) Have not had any adverse action against any license or compact privilege within the 
previous 2 years; (5) Notify the Commission that the licensee is seeking the compact privilege 
within a remote state; 



 

 

(6) Pay any applicable fees, including any state fee, for the compact privilege; 

(7) Meet any jurisprudence requirements established by the remote state in which the licensee is 
seeking a compact privilege; and 

(8) Report to the Commission adverse action taken by any nonmember state within 30 days from 
the date the adverse action is taken. 

(b) The compact privilege is valid until the expiration date of the home license. The licensee must 
comply with the requirements of Section 4(a) to maintain the compact privilege in the remote 
state. 

(c) A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state under the compact privilege shall 
function within the laws and regulations of the remote state. 

(d) A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state is subject to that state's regulatory 
authority. A remote state may, in accordance with due process and that state's laws, remove a 
licensee's compact privilege in the remote state for a specific period of time, impose fines, and/or 
take any other necessary actions to protect the health and safety of its citizens. The licensee is 
not eligible for a compact privilege in any state until the specific time for removal has passed and 
all fines are paid. 

(e) If a home state license is encumbered, the licensee shall lose the compact privilege in any 
remote state until the following occur: 

(1) The home state license is no longer encumbered; and 

(2) Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action. 
(f) Once an encumbered license in the home state is restored to good standing, the licensee must 
meet the 

requirements of Section 4(a) to obtain a compact privilege in any remote state. 
(g) If a licensee's compact privilege in any remote state is removed, the individual shall lose the 
compact privilege 

in any remote state until the following occur: 
(1) The specific period of time for which the compact privilege was removed has ended; (2) All 
fines have been paid; and 
(3) Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action. 

(h) Once the requirements of Section 4(g) have been met, the licensee must meet the 
requirements in Section 4(a) to obtain a compact privilege in a remote state. 

-7- 

SECTION 5. ACTIVE DUTY MILITARY PERSONNEL OR THEIR SPOUSES 

A licensee who is active duty military or is the spouse of an individual who is active duty military 
may designate one of the following as the home state: 



 

 

(1) Home of record; 
(2) Permanent Change of Station (PCS); or 
(3) State of current residence if it is different than the PCS state or home of record. 

SECTION 6. ADVERSE ACTIONS 

(a) A home state shall have exclusive power to impose adverse action against a license issued by 
the home state. 

(b) A home state may take adverse action based on the investigative information of a remote state, 
so long as the home state follows its own procedures for imposing adverse action. 

(c) Nothing in this Compact shall override a member state's decision that participation in an 
alternative program may be used in lieu of adverse action and that such participation shall remain 
non-public if required by the member state's laws. Member states must require licensees who 
enter any alternative programs in lieu of discipline to agree not to practice in any other member 
state during the term of the alternative program without prior authorization from such other 
member state. 

(d) Any member state may investigate actual or alleged violations of the statutes and rules 
authorizing the practice of physical therapy in any other member state in which a physical 
therapist or physical therapist assistant holds a license or compact privilege. 

(e) A remote state shall have the authority to: 
(1) Take adverse actions as set forth in Section 4(d) against a licensee's compact privilege in the 
state; (2) Issue subpoenas for both hearings and investigations that require the attendance and 
testimony of 

witnesses, and the production of evidence. Subpoenas issued by a physical therapy licensing 
board in a party state for the attendance and testimony of witnesses, and/or the production of 
evidence from another party state, shall be enforced in the latter state by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, according to the practice and procedure of that court applicable to subpoenas issued 
in proceedings pending before it. The issuing authority shall pay any witness fees, travel 
expenses, mileage, and other fees required by the service statutes of the state where the 
witnesses and/or evidence are located; and 

(3) If otherwise permitted by state law, recover from the licensee the costs of investigations and 
disposition of cases resulting from any adverse action taken against that licensee. 

(f) Joint Investigations 
(1) In addition to the authority granted to a member state by its respective physical therapy 
practice act or other 

applicable state law, a member state may participate with other member states in joint 
investigations of licensees. 
(2) Member states shall share any investigative, litigation, or compliance materials in furtherance 
of any joint or  

individual investigation initiated under the Compact. 



 

 

SECTION 7. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PHYSICAL THERAPY COMPACT COMMISSION 

(a) The Compact member states hereby create and establish a joint public agency known as the 
Physical Therapy Compact Commission. 

(1) The Commission is an instrumentality of the Compact states. 

(2) Venue is proper and judicial proceedings by or against the Commission shall be brought solely 
and exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction where the principal office of the Commission 
is located. The Commission may waive venue and jurisdictional defenses to the extent it adopts or 
consents to participate in alternative dispute resolution proceedings. 

(3) Nothing in this Compact shall be construed to be a waiver of sovereign immunity. (b) 
Membership, Voting, and Meetings 

(1) Each member state shall have and be limited to one delegate selected by that member state's 
licensing board. 

(2) The delegate shall be a current member of the licensing board, who is a physical therapist, 
physical therapist assistant, public member, or the board administrator. 

(3) Any delegate may be removed or suspended from office as provided by the law of the state 
from which the delegate is appointed. 

(4) The member state board shall fill any vacancy occurring in the Commission. 

(5) Each delegate shall be entitled to one vote with regard to the promulgation of rules and 
creation of bylaws and shall otherwise have an opportunity to participate in the business and 
affairs of the Commission. 

(6) A delegate shall vote in person or by such other means as provided in the bylaws. The bylaws 
may provide for delegates' participation in meetings by telephone or other means of 
communication. 

(7) The Commission shall meet at least once during each calendar year. Additional meetings shall 
be held as set forth in the bylaws. 

(c) The Commission shall have the following powers and duties: (1) Establish the fiscal year of the 
Commission; 
(2) Establish bylaws; 

-8- 

(3) Maintain its financial records in accordance with the bylaws; 
(4) Meet and take such actions as are consistent with the provisions of this Compact and the 
bylaws; 
(5) Promulgate uniform rules to facilitate and coordinate implementation and administration of 
this Compact. 



 

 

The rules shall have the force and effect of law and shall be binding in all member states; 
(6) Bring and prosecute legal proceedings or actions in the name of the Commission, provided 
that the standing 

of any state physical therapy licensing board to sue or be sued under applicable law shall not be 
affected; (7) Purchase and maintain insurance and bonds; 

state; (8) Borrow, accept, or contract for services of personnel, including, but not limited to, 
employees of a member 

(9) Hire employees, elect or appoint officers, fix compensation, define duties, grant such 
individuals appropriate authority to carry out the purposes of the Compact, and to establish the 
Commission's personnel policies and programs relating to conflicts of interest, qualifications of 
personnel, and other related personnel matters; 

(10) Accept any and all appropriate donations and grants of money, equipment, supplies, 
materials and services, and to receive, utilize and dispose of the same; provided that at all times 
the Commission shall avoid any appearance of impropriety and/or conflict of interest; 

(11) Lease, purchase, accept appropriate gifts or donations of, or otherwise to own, hold, improve 
or use, any property, real, personal or mixed; provided that at all times the Commission shall 
avoid any appearance of impropriety; (12) Sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange, 
abandon, or otherwise dispose of any property, real, 

personal, or mixed; 
(13) Establish a budget and make expenditures; 
(14) Borrow money; 
(15) Appoint committees, including standing committees composed of members, state regulators, 
state 

legislators or their representatives, and consumer representatives, and such other interested 
persons as may be designated in this Compact and the bylaws; 

(16) Provide and receive information from, and cooperate with, law enforcement agencies; 
(17) Establish and elect an Executive Board; and 
(18) Perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the purposes of 
this Compact 

consistent with the state regulation of physical therapy licensure and practice. 
(d) The Executive Board shall have the power to act on behalf of the Commission according to the 
terms of this 

Compact. 
(1) The Executive Board shall be composed of nine members: 

(A) Seven voting members who are elected by the Commission from the current membership of 
the Commission; 

(B) One ex-officio, nonvoting member from the recognized national physical therapy professional 
association; and 



 

 

(C) One ex-officio, nonvoting member from the recognized membership organization of the 
physical therapy licensing boards. 

(2) The ex-officio members will be selected by their respective organizations. 
(3) The Commission may remove any member of the Executive Board as provided in bylaws. (4) 
The Executive Board shall meet at least annually. 
(5) The Executive Board shall have the following duties and responsibilities: 

(A) Recommend to the entire Commission changes to the rules or bylaws, changes to this 
Compact legislation, fees paid by Compact member states such as annual dues, and any 
commission Compact fee charged to licensees for the compact privilege; 

(B) Ensure Compact administration services are appropriately provided, contractual or otherwise; 
(C) Prepare and recommend the budget; 
(D) Maintain financial records on behalf of the Commission; 
(E) Monitor Compact compliance of member states and provide compliance reports to the 
Commission; (F) Establish additional committees as necessary; and 

(G) Other duties as provided in rules or bylaws. (e) Meetings of the Commission 

(1) All meetings shall be open to the public, and public notice of meetings shall be given in the 
same manner as required under the rulemaking provisions in Section 9. 

(2) The Commission or the Executive Board or other committees of the Commission may convene 
in a closed, non-public meeting if the Commission or Executive Board or other committees of the 
Commission must discuss: 

(A) Non-compliance of a member state with its obligations under the Compact; 

(B) The employment, compensation, discipline or other matters, practices or procedures related to 
specific employees or other matters related to the Commission's internal personnel practices and 
procedures; 

(C) Current, threatened, or reasonably anticipated litigation; 
(D) Negotiation of contracts for the purchase, lease, or sale of goods, services, or real estate; 
(E) Accusing any person of a crime or formally censuring any person; 
(F) Disclosure of trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or 
confidential; (G) Disclosure of information of a personal nature where disclosure would constitute 
a clearly unwarranted 

invasion of personal privacy; 

-9- 

(H) Disclosure of investigative records compiled for law enforcement purposes; 

(I) Disclosure of information related to any investigative reports prepared by or on behalf of or for 
use of the Commission or other committee charged with responsibility of investigation or 
determination of compliance issues pursuant to the Compact; or 



 

 

(J) Matters specifically exempted from disclosure by federal or member state statute. 
(3) If a meeting, or portion of a meeting, is closed pursuant to this provision, the Commission's 

legal counsel or designee shall certify that the meeting may be closed and shall reference each 
relevant exempting provision. 

(4) The Commission shall keep minutes that fully and clearly describe all matters discussed in a 
meeting and shall provide a full and accurate summary of actions taken, and the reasons 
therefore, including a description of the views expressed. All documents considered in 
connection with an action shall be identified in such minutes. All minutes and documents of a 
closed meeting shall remain under seal, subject to release by a majority vote of the Commission 
or order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

(f) Financing of the Commission 
(1) The Commission shall pay, or provide for the payment of, the reasonable expenses of its 

establishment, organization, and ongoing activities. 
(2)The Commission may accept any and all appropriate revenuesources,donations,andgrantsof 

money, equipment, supplies, materials, and services. 
(3) The Commission may levy on and collect an annual assessment from each member state or 

impose fees on other parties to cover the cost of the operations and activities of the Commission 
and its staff, which must be in a total amount sufficient to cover its annual budget as approved 
each year for which revenue is not provided by other sources. The aggregate annual assessment 
amount shall be allocated based upon a formula to be determined by the Commission, which shall 
promulgate a rule binding upon all member states. 

(4) The Commission shall not incur obligations of any kind prior to securing the funds adequate to 
meet the same; nor shall the Commission pledge the. credit of any of the member states, except 
by and with the authority of the member state. 

(5) The Commission shall keep accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements. The receipts 
and disbursements of the Commission shall be subject to the audit and accounting procedures 
established under its bylaws. However, all receipts and disbursements of funds handled by the 
Commission shall be audited yearly by a certified or licensed public accountant, and the report of 
the audit shall be included in and become part of the annual report of the Commission. 

(g) Qualified Immunity, Defense, and Indemnification 
(1) The members, officers, executive director, employees and representatives of the Commission 

shall be immune from suit and liability, either personally or in their official capacity, for any claim 
for damage to or loss of property or personal injury or other civil liability caused by or arising out 
of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that occurred, or that the person against whom the 
claim is made had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties or responsibilities; provided that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed 
to protect any such person from suit and/or liability for any damage, loss, injury, or liability 
caused by the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. 



 

 

(2) The Commission shall defend any member, officer, executive director, employee or 
representative of the Commission in any civil action seeking to impose liability arising out of any 
actual or alleged act, error, or omission that occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties, or responsibilities, or that the person against whom the claim is made had a 
reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties, or 
responsibilities; provided that nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit that person from 
retaining his or her own counsel; and provided further, that the actual or alleged act, error, or 
omission did not result from that person's intentional or willful or wanton misconduct. 

(3) The Commission shall indemnify and hold harmless any member, officer, executive director, 
employee, or representative of the Commission for the amount of any settlement or judgment 
obtained against that person arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that 
occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties, or responsibilities, or that such 
person had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties, or responsibilities, provided that the actual or alleged act, error, or omission 
did not result from the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. 

-10- 

SECTION 8. DATA SYSTEM 

(a) The Commission shall provide for the development, maintenance, and utilization of a 
coordinated database and reporting system containing licensure, adverse action, and 
investigative information on all licensed individuals in member states. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of state law to the contrary, a member state shall submit a 
uniform data set to the data system on all individuals to whom this Compact is applicable as 
required by the rules of the Commission, including: 

(1) Identifyinginformation; 
(2) Licensure data; 
(3) Adverse actions against a license or compact privilege; 
(4) Non-confidential information related to alternative program participation; 
(5) Any denial of application for licensure, and the reason(s) for such denial; and 
(6) Other information that may facilitate the administration of this Compact, as determined by the 

rules of the Commission. 
(c) Investigative information pertaining to a licensee in any member state will only be available to 
other 

party states. 
(d) The Commission shall promptly notify all member states of any adverse action taken against a 

licensee or an individual applying for a license. Adverse action information pertaining to a 
licensee in any member state will be available to any other member state. 

(e) Member states contributing information to the data system may designate information that 
may not be shared with the public without the express permission of the contributing state. 



 

 

(f) Any information submitted to the data system that is subsequently required to be expunged by 
the laws of the member state contributing the information shall be removed from the data system. 

SECTION 9. RULEMAKING 

(a) The Commission shall exercise its rulemaking powers pursuant to the criteria set forth in this 
Section and the rules adopted thereunder. Rules and amendments shall become binding as of the 
date specified in each rule or amendment. 

(b) If a majority of the legislatures of the member states rejects a rule, by enactment of a statute or 
resolution in the same manner used to adopt the Compact within 4 years of the date of adoption 
of the rule, then such rule shall have no further force and effect in any member state. 

(c) Rules or amendments to the rules shall be adopted at a regular or special meeting of the 
Commission. 

(d)Prior to promulgation and adoption of a final rule or rules by theCommission,andatleast thirty 
(30) days in advance of the meeting at which the rule will be considered and voted upon, the 
Commission shall file a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking: 

(1) On the website of the Commission or other publicly accessible platform; and 

(2) On the website of each member state physical therapy licensing board or other publicly 
accessible platform or the publication in which each state would otherwise publish proposed 
rules. (e) The Notice of Proposed Rulemaking shall include: 

(1) The proposed time, date, and location of the meeting in which the rule will be considered and 
voted upon; 

(2) The text of the proposed rule or amendment and the reason for the proposed rule; 
(3) A request for comments on the proposed rule from any interested person; and 
(4) The manner in which interested persons may submit notice to the Commission of their 
intention to 

attend the public hearing and any written comments. 
(f) Prior to adoption of a proposed rule, the Commission shall allow persons to submit written 
data, facts, 

opinions, and arguments, which shall be made available to the public. 
(g) The Commission shall grant an opportunity for a public hearing before it adopts a rule or 
amendment if 

a hearing is requested by: 
(1) At least twenty-five (25) persons; 
(2) A state or federal governmental subdivision or agency; or (3) An association having at least 
twenty-five (25) members. 

(h) If a hearing is held on the proposed rule or amendment, the Commission shall publish the 
place, time, and date of the scheduled public hearing. If the hearing is held via electronic means, 
the Commission shall publish the mechanism for access to the electronic hearing. 



 

 

(1) All persons wishing to be heard at the hearing shall notify the executive director of the 
Commission or other designated member in writing of their desire to appear and testify at the 
hearing not less than five (5) business days before the scheduled date of the hearing. 

-11- 

(2) Hearings shall be conducted in a manner providing each person who wishes to comment a fair 
and reasonable opportunity to comment orally or in writing. 

(3) All hearings will be recorded. A copy oftherecordingwillbemadeavailableonrequest. 

(4) Nothing in this section shall be construed as requiring a separate hearing on each rule. Rules 
may be grouped for the convenience of the Commission at hearings required by this section. 

(i) Following the scheduled hearing date, or by the close of business on the scheduled hearing 
date if the hearing was not held, the Commission shall consider all written and oral comments 
received. 

(j) If no written notice of intent to attend the public hearing by interested parties is received, the 
Commission may proceed with promulgation of the proposed rule without a public hearing. 

(k) The Commission shall, by majority vote of all members, take final action on the proposed rule 
and shall determine the effective date of the rule, if any, based on the rulemaking record and the 
full text of the rule. 

(l) Upon determination that an emergency exists, the Commission may consider and adopt an 
emergency rule without prior notice, opportunity for comment, or hearing, provided that the usual 
rulemaking procedures provided in the Compact and in this section shall be retroactively applied 
to the rule as soon as reasonably possible, in no event later than ninety (90) days after the 
effective date of the rule. Forthe purposes of this provision, an emergency rule is one that must be 
adoptedimmediatelyin order to: 

(1) Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare; 
(2) Prevent a loss of Commission or member state funds; 
(3) Meetadeadlineforthepromulgationofanadministrativerulethatisestablishedbyfederallawor 

rule; or 
(4) Protect public health and safety. 

(m) The Commission or an authorized committee of the Commission may direct revisions to a 
previously adopted rule or amendment for purposes of correcting typographical errors, errors in 
format, errors in consistency, or grammatical errors. Public notice of any revisions shall be 
posted on the website of the Commission. The revision shall be subject to challenge by any 
person for a period of thirty (30) days after posting. The revision may be challenged only on 
grounds that the revision results in a material change to a rule. A challenge shall be made in 
writing and delivered to the chair of the Commission prior to the end of the notice period. If no 
challenge is made, the revision will take effect without further action. If the revision is challenged, 
the revision may not take effect without the approval of the Commission. 

SECTION 10. OVERSIGHT, DISPUTE RESOLUTION, AND ENFORCEMENT 



 

 

(a) Oversight 
(1) The executive, legislative, and judicial branches of state government in each member state 
shall 

enforce this Compact and take all actions necessary and appropriate to effectuate the Compact's 
purposes and intent. The provisions of this Compact and the rules promulgated hereunder shall 
have standing as statutory law. 

(2) All courts shall take judicial notice of the Compact and the rules in any judicial or 
administrative proceeding in a member state pertaining to the subject matter of this Compact 
which may affect the powers, responsibilities or actions of the Commission. 

(3) The Commission shall be entitled to receive service of process in any such proceeding and 
shall have standing to intervene in such a proceeding for all purposes. Failure to provide service 
of process to the Commission shall render a judgment or order void as to the Commission, this 
Compact, or promulgated rules. 

(b) Default, Technical Assistance, and Termination 
(1) If the Commission determines that a member state has defaulted in the performance of its 

obligations or responsibilities under this Compact or thepromulgatedrules,theCommissionshall: 
(A) Provide written notice to the defaulting state and other member states of the nature of the 

default, the proposed means of curing the default and/or any other action to be taken by the 
Commission; and (B) Provide remedial training and specific technical assistance regarding the 
default. 

(2) Ifastateindefaultfailstocurethedefault,thedefaultingstatemaybeterminatedfromtheCompact 
uponanaffirmativevoteofamajorityofthememberstates, and all rights, privileges and benefits 
conferred by this Compact may be terminated on the effective date of termination. A cure of the 
default does not relieve the offending state of obligations or liabilities incurred during the period 
of default. 

(3) Termination of membership in the Compact shall be imposed only after all other means of 
securing compliance have been exhausted. Notice of intent to suspend or terminate shall be given 
by the Commission to the governor, the majority and minority leaders of the defaulting state's 
legislature, and each of the member states. 

-12- 

(4) A state that has been terminated is responsible for all assessments, obligations, and liabilities 
incurred through the effective date of termination, including obligations that extend beyond the 
effective date of termination. 

(5) The Commission shall not bear any costs related to a state that is found to be in default or that 
has been terminated from the Compact, unless agreed upon in writing between the Commission 
and the defaulting state. 

(6) The defaulting state may appeal the action of the Commission by petitioning the U.S. District 
Court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the Commission has its principal 



 

 

offices. The prevailing member shall 
beawardedallcostsofsuchlitigation,includingreasonableattorney'sfees. 

(c) Dispute Resolution 
(1) Upon request by a member state, the Commission shall attempt to resolve disputes related to 
the 

Compact that arise among member states and between member and non-member states. 
(2) The Commission shall promulgate a rule providing for both mediation and binding dispute 

resolution for disputes as appropriate. (d) Enforcement 

(1) The Commission, in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, shall enforce the provisions and 
rules of this Compact. 

(2) By majority vote, the Commission may initiate legal action in the United States District Court 
for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the Commission has its principal offices 
against a member state in default to enforce compliance with the provisions of the Compact and 
its promulgated rules and bylaws. The relief sought may include both injunctive relief and 
damages. In the event judicial enforcement is necessary, the prevailing member shall be awarded 
all costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney's fees. 

(3) The remedies herein shall not be the exclusive remedies of the Commission. The Commission 
may pursue any other remedies available under federal or state law. 

SECTION 11. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INTERSTATE COMMISSION FOR PHYSICAL 
THERAPY PRACTICE AND ASSOCIATED RULES, WITHDRAWAL, AND AMENDMENT 

(a) The Compact shall come into effect on the date on which the Compact statute is enacted into 
law in the tenth member state. The provisions, which become effective at that time, shall be 
limited to the powers granted to the Commission relating to assembly and the promulgation of 
rules. Thereafter, the Commission shall meet and exercise rulemaking powers necessary to the 
implementation and administration of the Compact. 

(b) Any state that joins the Compact subsequent to the Commission's initial adoption of the rules 
shall be subject to the rules as they exist on the date on which the Compact becomes law in that 
state. Any rule that has been previously adopted by the Commission shall have the full force and 
effect of law on the day the Compactbecomeslawinthatstate. 

(c) AnymemberstatemaywithdrawfromthisCompactbyenactingastatuterepealingthesame. 
(1) A member state's withdrawal shall not take effect until six (6) months after enactment of the 

repealing statute. 
(2) Withdrawal shall not affect the continuing requirement of the withdrawing state's physical 

therapy licensing board to comply with the investigative and adverse action reporting 
requirements of this act prior to the effective date of withdrawal. 



 

 

(d) Nothing contained in this Compact shall be construed to invalidate or prevent any physical 
therapy licensure agreement or other cooperative arrangement between a member state and a 
non- member state that does not conflict with theprovisionsofthisCompact. 

(e) This Compact may be amended by the member states. No amendment to this Compact shall 
become effective and binding upon any member state until it is enacted into the laws of all 
member states. 

SECTION 12. CONSTRUCTION AND SEVERABILITY 

This Compact shall be liberally construed so as to effectuate the purposes thereof. The provisions 
of this Compact shall be severable and if any phrase, clause, sentence or provision of this 
Compact is declared to be contrary to the constitution of any party state or of the United States or 
the applicability thereof to any government, agency, person or circumstance is held invalid, the 
validity of the remainder of this Compact and the applicability thereof to any government, agency, 
person or circumstance shall not be affected thereby. If this Compact shall be held contrary to the 
constitution of any party state, the Compact shall remain in full force and effect as to the 
remaining party states and in full force and effect as to the party state affected as to all severable 
matters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ARTICLE 4. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec. 08.84.190. Definitions. In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, 
 1. “Board” means the State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board. 

2. Competence is the application of knowledge, skills, and behaviors required to function 
effectively, safely, ethically and legally within the context of the patient/client’s role and 
environment. 

3. Consultation means a physical therapist seeking assistance from, or rendering 
professional or expert opinion or advice to, another physical therapist or professional healthcare 
provider via electronic communications, telehealth, or in-person. 
 

4. Continuing competence is the lifelong process of maintaining and documenting competence 
through ongoing self-assessment, development, and implementation of a personal learning plan, and 
subsequent reassessment. 
 

5. “Electronic Communications” means the science and technology of communication 
(the process of exchanging information) over any distance by electronic transmission of 
impulses including activities that involve using electronic communications to store, organize, 
send, retrieve, and/or convey information. 
*N/A  “Jurisdiction of the United States” means any state, the District of Columbia, the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, or any American territory. 

6. “Nexus to practice” means the criminal act of the applicant or licensee posing a risk to 
the public’s welfare and safety relative to the practice of physical therapy. 
 

7. “Patient/client” means any individual receiving physical therapy from a licensee, 
permit, or compact privilege holder under this Act. 

89. “physical therapist assistant” means a person who assists in the practice of physical therapy 
or an aspect of physical therapy as initiated, supervised, and terminated by a licensed physical therapist; 
the responsibilities of a physical therapist assistant do not include evaluation. (currently #6). 
*N/A “Physical therapist assistant-patient/client relationship” means the formal or inferred 
relationship entered into by mutual consent between a licensed [certified] physical therapist 
assistant and a patient/client or their legally authorized representative established once the 
physical therapist assistant assumes or undertakes the care or treatment of a patient/client and 
continues until either the patient/client is discharged or treatment is formally transferred to 
another practitioner or as further defined by rule. 

98. “Physical therapist” means a person who is a licensed healthcare practitioner 
pursuant to this [act] to practice physical therapy. The terms “physiotherapist” or “physio” shall 
be synonymous with “physical therapist” pursuant to this [act]. A Physical Therapist may 
evaluate, initiate, and provide physical therapy treatment for a client as the first point of contact 
without a referral from other health service providers.  and as the first point of contact. 
*N/A  “Physical therapist-patient/client relationship” means the formal or inferred relationship 
entered into by mutual consent between a licensed physical therapist and a patient/client or 
their legally authorized representative established once the physical therapist assumes or 

Commented [10]: Add to sec. 08.84.190 as 
it is reference in “legislative intent” 

Commented [11]:   
Commented [SR12R11]:   
Commented [SR13R11]:  Ensure this 
language adequately encompasses consultation 
as a two way street. 
Commented [14]: Add definition to Sec. 
08.84.190 (if referenced elsewhere in 
statute). Use MPA language. 

Commented [15]: (Regulation project to 
revise 12 AAC 54.530 (a)) 
Commented [SR16R15]:  Telerehabilitation - 
redefine to telehealth? 
Commented [17]: No action - leave as is 
"State". (Consider defining in a regulatory 
project as it is used in regulation). 
Commented [18]: Adopt MPA language - 
add to Sec. 08.84.190 
See Grounds for action (MPA). See 
commentary in regard to criminal acts NOT 
related to pt safety. 
Commented [19]: Adopt MPA language - 
add to Sec. 08.84.190 
Commented [20]: Leave 08.84.190 (6) as is. 

Commented [21]: Define physical therapist 
assistant patient/client relationship in regulation - 
need a regulation project to go along with this bill. 
Commented [22]: Adopt MPA language - to 
Sec. 08.84.190 
Commented [SR23]:  Discuss insertion of this 
language at 6/17 meeting - primary care? - is this 
addition necessary? Confirmed 
Commented [SR24]:  Added 6/5 to codify 
direct access in statute. Need to discuss at 6/17 
meeting w/group. Confirmed 



 

 

undertakes the care or treatment of a patient/client and continues until either the patient/client is 
discharged, or treatment is formally transferred to another healthcare practitioner or as further 
defined by rule. 

10. “Physical therapy” means the care and services provided in-person or via telehealth 
by or under the direction and supervision of a physical therapist who is licensed pursuant to this 
[act]. The term “physiotherapy” shall be synonymous with “physical therapy” pursuant to this 
[act]. 

11. “Practice of physical therapy” means: 
a. Examining, evaluating, and testing patients/clients with mechanical, physiological and 
developmental impairments, functional limitations, and disabilities or other health and 
movement-related conditions in order to determine a diagnosis, prognosis and plan of treatment 
intervention, and to assess the ongoing effects of intervention. 
b. Alleviating impairments, pain, functional limitations and disabilities; promoting health; and 
preventing disease by designing, implementing and modifying treatment interventions that may 
include, but not limited to: therapeutic exercise; needle insertion; patient-related instruction; 
therapeutic massage; airway clearance techniques; integumentary protection and repair 
techniques; debridement and wound care; physical agents or modalities; mechanical and 
electrotherapeutic modalities; manual therapy including soft tissue and joint 
mobilization/manipulation; functional training in self-care and in home, community or work 
integration or reintegration; as well as prescription application and, as appropriate, fabrication of 
assistive, adaptive, orthotic, prosthetic, protective and supportive devices and equipment. 
c. Reducing the risk of injury, impairment, functional limitation, and disability, including 
performance of participation-focused physical examinations and the promotion and 
maintenance of fitness, health, and wellness in populations of all ages. 
d. Referring a patient/client to healthcare providers and facilities for services and testing to 
inform the physical therapist plan of care. 
e. Engaging in administration, consultation, education, and research. 
 f. Physical therapists may serve as primary care providers as first point of contact for 
neuromusculoskeletal conditions and are expert practitioners privileged in evaluation and 
treatment of patients and clients recovering from injury or disease and in programs for 
maintaining wellness and fitness for patients and clients without apparent disease or injury. 

11. “Practice of physical therapy” means: 
a. Examining, evaluating, and testing patients/clients with mechanical, physiological and 
developmental impairments, functional limitations, and disabilities or other health and 
movement-related conditions in order to determine a diagnosis, prognosis and plan of treatment 
intervention, and to assess the ongoing effects of intervention. 
b. Alleviating impairments, pain, functional limitations and disabilities; promoting health; and 
preventing disease by designing, implementing and modifying treatment interventions that may 
include, but not limited to: therapeutic exercise; needle insertion; patient-related instruction; 
therapeutic massage; airway clearance techniques; integumentary protection and repair 
techniques; debridement and wound care; physical agents or modalities; mechanical and 
electrotherapeutic modalities; manual therapy including soft tissue and joint 
mobilization/manipulation; functional training in self-care and in home, community or work 

Commented [25]: Define physical therapist 
patient/client relationship in regulation - need a 
regulation project to go along with this bill. 

Commented [26]: Adopt MPA language - to 
Sec. 08.84.190. 
 
Then, add and adopt MPA definition of 
“Practice of Physical Therapy” 

Commented [SR27]:  Address at 6/17 mtg with 
group - should language “as first point of contact” 
be included in (f)? Confirmed and reordered to 
(d).  
Commented [28]: Adopt MPA language as 
stated in 1st column (MPA) w/ addition of primary 
care language (f). Reordered to (d) 06/17 
Commented [SR29]:  Circle back at 6/5 
meeting on primary care language 
Commented [SR30]:  Army and Utah statutory 
language utilize “neuromusculoskeletal 
language”. PT would not treat for the “flu” = 
screening and referral situation and allow for 
quicker access for patients to the healthcare 
system. Key language is “recovering from injury 
or disease”; treatment limited to physical therapy 
scope of practice.  



 

 

integration or reintegration; as well as prescription application and, as appropriate, fabrication of 
assistive, adaptive, orthotic, prosthetic, protective and supportive devices and equipment. 
c. Reducing the risk of injury, impairment, functional limitation, and disability, including 
performance of participation-focused physical examinations and the promotion and 
maintenance of fitness, health, and wellness in populations of all ages. 
d. Serving as primary care providers for patients and clients experiencing healthcare concerns. 
e. Referring a patient/client to healthcare providers and facilities for services and testing to 
inform the physical therapist plan of care. 
f. Engaging in administration, consultation, education, and research. 
 
 
*N/A “Restricted [certificate/license]” for a physical therapist assistant means a 
[certificate/license] on which the board has placed any restrictions and/or condition as to scope 
of work, place of work, duration of certified or licensed status, or type or condition of 
patient/client to whom the certificate holder or licensee may provide services.  
* N/A “Restricted license” for a physical therapist means a license on which the board has 
placed any restrictions and/or conditions as to scope of practice, place of practice, supervision 
of practice, duration of licensed status, or type or condition of individual to whom the licensee 
may provide services.  

12. Supervision the process by which a physical therapist (or Occupational Therapist) 
oversees and directs safe and effective delivery of patient care through appropriate verbal, 
written, or electronic communication. This may be accomplished with the physical therapist 
located onsite or remotely as deemed appropriate based on the patient/client needs. 

13. “Telehealth” is the use of electronic communications to provide and deliver a host of 
health-related information and healthcare services, including, but not limited to physical therapy 
related information and services, over large and small distances. Telehealth encompasses a 
variety of healthcare and health promotion activities, including, but not limited to, education, 
advice, reminders, interventions, and monitoring of interventions. 

14. “Testing” means standard methods and techniques used to gather data about the 
patient/client, including but not limited to imaging, electrodiagnostic and electrophysiologic tests 
and measures. 

 

CHAPTER 54.  

STATE PHYSICAL THERAPY AND OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY BOARD. 

Article 

1. Physical Therapy Licensure by Examination 
(12 AAC 54.010 – 12 AAC 54.080) 

2. Physical Therapy Licensure by Credentials 
(12 AAC 54.100 – 12 AAC 54.130) 

3. Physical Therapy License Renewal and Continuing Competency Requirements 
(12 AAC 54.200 – 12 AAC 54.440) 

Commented [31]: Leave Sec. 08.84.120 as 
is. Unless we are going to begin issuing 
restricted license. SOP, not duration of 
license, as mentioned in “limited permit” in 
sec 08.84.075. 
Commented [32]: Leave Sec. 08.84.120 as 
is. Unless we are going to begin issuing 
restricted license. SOP, not duration of 
license, as mentioned in “limited permit” in 
sec 08.84.075. 
Commented [33]: Adopt MPA language w/ 
inclusion of OT for consistency throughout 
statue. (Regulation project will need to 
change 12 AAC 54.590 to include telehealth 
or rehab - pending decision on below 
language). 
Commented [SR34]:  Move the definition of 
“supervision” to regulation - Change the existing 
one in 12 AAC 54.590 to match MPA 
Commented [35]: 12 AAC 54.530 “… do not 
have access to a physical therapist in person 
due to geographic constraints or health and 
safety constraints”. 
 
Adopt MPA language - to Sec. 08.84.190. 
Omit “ “ phrase from 12 AAC 54.530. Change 
Telerehab to Telehealth - 12 AAC 54.530. 
(regulation project) 
Commented [SR36R35]:  Statute overrides 
regulation and Centralized statute overrides this 
statement that exists in current PT/OT regulations 
Commented [37]: Adopt MPA language 
(“testing” is in the practice of PT definition) - 
to Sec. 08.84.190. 



 

 

4. Physical Therapy Standards of Practice 
(12 AAC 54.500 – 12 AAC 54.590) 

5. Occupational Therapy Licensure 
(12 AAC 54.600 – 12 AAC 54.660) 

6. Occupational Therapy License Renewal and Continuing Competency Requirements 
(12 AAC 54.700 – 12 AAC 54.725) 

7. Occupational Therapy Standards of Practice 
(12 AAC 54.800 – 12 AAC 54.890) 

8. General Provisions 

Section 10. 

20. 30. 40. 50. 55. 60. 70. 80. 

(12 AAC 54.900 – 12 AAC 54.990) 
PHYSICAL THERAPY LICENSURE BY EXAMINATION. 

(Repealed) 
(Renumbered) 
Requirements for physical therapy license by examination 
Foreign-educated physical therapy applicants 
Physical therapist temporary permits and scope of practice under those permits (Repealed) 
(Repealed) 
Supervised field work 
Passing scores 

ARTICLE 1. 

12 AAC 54.010. OFFICERS OF THE BOARD. Repealed 9/26/91. 

12 AAC 54.020. BOARD MEETINGS. Renumbered as 12 AAC 54.960, 9/26/91. 

12 AAC 54.030. REQUIREMENTS FOR PHYSICAL THERAPY LICENSE BY EXAMINATION.  

“Examination” No action - 12 AAC 54.030 and sec 08.84.030 fine as is. 

(a) An applicant for a physical therapist or a physical therapist assistant license by examination, other 
than an applicant who is a graduate of a school of physical therapy that is located outside of the United 
States, shall submit a completed application on a form prescribed by the board with 

(1) payment of the fees established in 12 AAC 02.320; 

(2) the applicant's certified transcript sent directly to the department from a physical therapy school 
meeting the requirements of AS 08.84.030(a)(1); 
from (3) a signed letter of professional reference sent directly to the department on a form provided by the 
department 

(A) the head of the physical therapy school; or 



 

 

(B) an instructor, physician, supervising physical therapist, or supervisor; 
and (4) the jurisprudence questionnaire prepared by the board covering the provisions of AS 08.84 and 
this chapter; 

(5) proof of passing examination scores, sent directly to the department from the Federation of State 
Boards of Physical Therapy (FSBPT). 

(b) Repealed 8/7/2021. 

(c) An applicant who has applied for, but not yet received, licensure in another state and who has passed 
the national physical therapy examination in that state may have the examination scores transferred to 
the board and may apply for licensure by examination under (a) of this section. 

Authority: AS 08.84.010 AS 08.84.030 AS 08.84.040 
12 AAC 54.040. FOREIGN-EDUCATED PHYSICAL THERAPY APPLICANTS. (a) A physical 

therapist or physical therapist assistant applicant for license by examination who received an education 
and qualifying -15- 

Other Items: 

*Electronic Communications: 
Adopt MPA definiitondefinition 
This is mentioned under “Teleheath (MPA)”. *Would like to see “…and do not have access to a PT in 
person…” omitted. (Regulation project to revise 12 AAC 54.530 (a)) 
 
*Onsite Supervision: 
Leave 12 AAC 54.590 as is.                  
Additional reference: 12 AAC 54.520 
 
 *Physical therapy aide: 
Keep 12 AAC 54.590 (3) as is. 
 
*Supervision: 
 Adopt MPA language  w/ inclusion of OT for consistency throughout statue. (Regulation project will need 
to change 12 AAC 54.590 to include telehealth or rehab - pending decision on below language). 
 
*Telehealth: 
12 AAC 54.530 “… do not have access to a physical therapist in person due to geographic constraints or 
health and safety constraints”.  
Adopt MPA language - to Sec. 08.84.190.  
Omit “ “ phrase from 12 AAC 54.530.  
Change Telerehab to Telehealth - 12 AAC 54.530. (regulation project) 
 



 

  

OT STATUTORY  
SCOPE MODERNIZATION 

Work Group Summary Document 

Tori Daugherty 
      

Abstract 
Occupational Therapy Stakeholder Work Group convened by the Physical Therapy and 

Occupational Therapy Board to continue statutory scope modernization. 



OT Scope Modernization Workgroup Summary Document 
 

The OT Scope Modernization Workgroup met six times from March 2025 to June 2025 with 
the goal to review the current draft of OT scope of practice language, which had been 
initially developed by a similar, prior workgroup in 2023.  The Board adopted the language 
recommended by the prior workgroup on June 16, 2023. 
 
The goal of the workgroup had been to gather stakeholder feedback related to the current 
draft language and to update the draft language accordingly.   
 
The Board had reached out to occupational therapist and occupational therapy assistants 
through the Board’s Listserv.  Additionally, Sheri Ryan had reached out to leadership from 
AKOTA and national organizations.  The first meeting gathered feedback from all 
stakeholders present to develop an agenda of concerns to address during workgroup 
meetings, as well as to establish if stakeholders present would be interested in 
participating in the workgroup.  The subsequent meetings were coordinated to facilitate 
active participation from workgroup members in modifying the draft language based on 
stakeholder feedback. 
 
Workgroup objectives: 

1. Develop a collaborative plan to address modernization of our scope of practice 
between all stakeholders (including the state licensing board, AKOTA, national 
organizations, and licensees) to create statutory change.  

2. Identify needs for change/improvement in the current draft of scope of practice 
language.  

3. Modify the current language to address any needs that the workgroup identifies.  
4. Address the role of OTAs in scope of practice language  
5. Develop and updated draft of scope of practice language for future action steps for 

recommendation to the PHY Board. 
 
Workgroup participation: 

• Victoria "Tori" Daugherty, OTR - Board Member  
• Kristen Neville - AOTA  
• Katie Walker, OTD, OTR/L - AKOTA  
• Jean Keckhut, OTR/L, CHT  
• Alfred G. Bracciano, MSA, EdD, OTR/L, CPAM, FAOTA  
• Kirsten Owen, OTR/L  
• Audra Yewchin, OTR/L  
• Sarah Rhodes, COTA  
• Kathleen Hansen, OTD/OTR/L 

 
Workgroup meeting dates and attendance: 

• March 25, 2025:Tori Daugherty, Kristen Neville AOTA, Jean Keckhut, Sarah Huot = 4 



• April 8, 2025: Tori Daugherty, Kristin Neville AOTA, Alfred Bracciano, Jean Keckhut = 
4 

• April 22, 2025: Tori Daugherty, Katie (Walker) Johnson AKOTA, Kristen Neville AOTA , 
Jean Keckhut, and Kathleen Hansen = 5 

• May 20, 2025: Tori Daugherty, Katie (Walker) Johnson AKOTA, Kristen Neville AOTA, 
Sarah Rhodes COTA, Jean Keckhut = 5 

• June 3, 2025: Tori Daugherty, Katie (Walker) Johnson AKOTA, and Kristen Neville 
AOTA = 3 

• June 30, 2025: Tori Daugherty, Katie (Walker) Johnson AKOTA, and Kristen Neville 
AOTA = 3; Megan Moody guest (public) 

 
The workgroup identified the following topics of concern to discuss, review, and consider 
language changes.  Each topic was addressed by the work group and changes to the draft 
language were made if needed. 

• Physical agent modalities  
• Feeding, eating, and swallowing  
• Pelvic floor and women's health  
• Diagnostic Imaging  
• OTA definition  
• Mental health  
• Direct access  
• Cognitive assessment 

 
The following action steps were identified at the final meeting with the goal of moving this 
draft language forward toward legislative sponsorship. 

• Katie (Walker) Johnson to meet with AKOTA board to facilitate discussions about the 
potential for a taskforce aimed at pursuing legislative sponsorship. 

• Katie (Walker) Johnson would like to invite Kristen Neville (AOTA) and Tori Daugherty 
(Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board) to join AKOTA’s taskforce.   

• Katie (Walker) Johnson will follow up with AKOTA’s lobbyist regarding 
recommendations for next steps 

• Tori Daugherty will present the workgroup’s draft language to the Scope of Practice 
Committee on July 11 

• Scope of Practices Committee will discuss the recommended draft language on July 
11 and determine if this draft language should be recommended to the full Board at 
the next full Board meeting. 

• At the next full Board meeting, Tori Daugherty will present AKOTA’s request for 
Daugherty to serve as a member on the AKOTA taskforce, specifically requesting the 
Board delegate Daugherty to attend the AKOTA taskforce as a Physical Therapy and 
Occupational Therapy Board representative 

 



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 

Accepted 06/30/2025 

Revised NEW OT Scope of Practice DRAFT Language: 

(2) “occupational therapist” means a person who practices occupational therapy; An
Occupational Therapist may evaluate, initiate, and provide occupational therapy
treatment for a client without a referral from other health service providers.

(3) “occupational therapy” means, for compensation, the use of purposeful activity,
evaluation, treatment, and consultation with human beings whose ability to cope with the
tasks of daily living are threatened with, or impaired by developmental deficits, learning
disabilities, aging, poverty, cultural differences, physical injury or illness, or psychological
and social disabilities to maximize independence, prevent disability, and maintain health;
“occupational therapy” includes

(A) developing daily living, play, leisure, social, and developmental skills;
(B) facilitating perceptual-motor and sensory integrative functioning;
(C) enhancing functional performance, prevocational skills, and work capabilities

using specifically designed exercises, therapeutic activities and measure, manual
intervention, and appliances;

(D) design, fabrication, and application of splints or selective adaptive equipment;
(E) administering and interpreting standardized and nonstandardized assessments,

including sensory, manual muscle, and range of motion assessments, necessary
for planning effective treatment; and

(F) adapting environments for the disabled;

Replace (3) above with: 

(3) “occupational therapy” means the therapeutic use of goal-directed life activities
(occupations) with individuals, groups, or populations who have, or are at risk for injury,
disorder, impairment, disability, activity limitation or participation restriction. Occupational
therapists evaluate, analyze, and diagnose occupational challenges and provide
interventions to support, improve, and/or restore function and engagement in meaningful
tasks and activities. This includes treating pain and/or physical, cognitive, psychosocial,
sensory-perceptive, visual, and other aspects of performance in a variety of contexts to
support and enhance engagement and participation in occupations that affect health, well- 
being, and quality of life. Occupational therapy services include but are not limited to:

A. Evaluation, treatment and consultation to promote or enhance safety and
performance in areas of activities of daily living (ADLs), instrumental
activities of daily living (IADLs), health management, rest and sleep,
education, work, play, leisure, and social participation;

B. Administration, evaluation, and interpretation of tests and measurements of



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 
 

Accepted 06/30/2025 
 

bodily functions and structures; 
C. Establishment, remediation, compensation or prevention of barriers to 

performance skills including; client factors (body structures, body 
functions), performance patterns (habits, routines, roles), performance skills 
(physical, neuromusculoskeletal, cognitive, psychosocial, sensory- 
perceptive, communication and interaction, pain), and contexts 
(environmental, personal factors); 

D. Management of feeding, eating, and swallowing to enable eating and feeding 
performance; 

E. Design, fabrication, application, fitting, and training in seating and 
positioning; assistive technology; adaptive devices; orthotic devices; and 
training in the use of prosthetic devices; 

F. Assessment, recommendation, and training in techniques to enhance 
functional and community mobility; 

G. Application of adjunctive interventions and therapeutic procedures in 
preparation for or concurrently with occupation-based activities including 
but not limited:  

• electrophysical agents  
• thermal, mechanical, and instrument-assisted modalities 
• wound care 
• manual therapy; and  

H. Provide therapeutic interventions to prevent pain and dysfunction, restore 
function and/or reverse the progression of pathology in order to enhance an 
individual’s ability to execute tasks and to participate fully in life activities. 

 
 
(4) “occupational therapy assistant” means a person who assists in the practice of occupational 
therapy under the supervision of an occupational therapist;  
 
Replace (4) above with:  
(4) “occupational therapy assistant” means a person who provides occupational therapy services 
in collaboration with and under the supervision of a licensed occupational therapist. An 
occupational therapist delegates to an occupational therapy assistant selective activities that are 
commensurate with the occupational therapy assistant’s service competence. The occupational 
therapy assistant may contribute to the evaluation process by implementing the delegated 
assessments by providing verbal or written reports of assessments to the supervising 
occupational therapist.  
 
Add new definition in 08.84.190 Definitions:  
 
(8) "tests and measurements" are the standard methods and techniques used to obtain data 



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 
 

Accepted 06/30/2025 
 

about the patient or client, including diagnostic imaging and electrodiagnostic and 
electrophysiological tests and measures. 
 
 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 
 
 



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 
 

Accepted 06/30/2025 
 

Highlighted text:  
yellow = Diagnostic Imaging 
blue = Feeding, eating, and swallowing 
red = Pelvic floor and Women’s Health 
green = Direct Access – this will not necessarily change the practice of private payers  
teal = Cognitive Assessment  
grey = Dry needling 
pink = Mental health; "Psychological" primarily focuses on individual mental and emotional states, 
while "psychosocial" considers the interaction between an individual's psychological state and 
their social environment.  

• Psychosocial: This term emphasizes the interconnectedness of individual 
psychological processes and social contexts. It considers how social factors, like 
culture, relationships, and community, influence an individual's psychological 
well-being and behavior. Psychosocial approaches often explore how social 
interactions, group dynamics, and environmental influences impact mental health 
and functioning. While psychological focuses on the individual's internal world, 
psychosocial acknowledges the broader context of social relationships and 
environmental influences on that internal world.  

 
 
BOLD and Underlined = adding language to existing statutory language 
Strikethrough = remove language from existing statutory language 
 
 
  



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 
 

Accepted 06/30/2025 
 

Revised NEW OT Scope of Practice DRAFT Language:  

(2) “occupational therapist” means a person who practices occupational therapy; An 
Occupational Therapist may evaluate, initiate, and provide occupational therapy 
treatment for a client without a referral from other health service providers. 

(3) “occupational therapy” means, for compensation, the use of purposeful activity, 
evaluation, treatment, and consultation with human beings whose ability to cope with the 
tasks of daily living are threatened with, or impaired by developmental deficits, learning 
disabilities, aging, poverty, cultural differences, physical injury or illness, or psychological 
and social disabilities to maximize independence, prevent disability, and maintain health; 
“occupational therapy” includes 

(A) developing daily living, play, leisure, social, and developmental skills;  
(B) facilitating perceptual-motor and sensory integrative functioning;  
(C) enhancing functional performance, prevocational skills, and work capabilities 

using specifically designed exercises, therapeutic activities and measure, manual 
intervention, and appliances;  

(D) design, fabrication, and application of splints or selective adaptive equipment;  
(E) administering and interpreting standardized and nonstandardized assessments, 

including sensory, manual muscle, and range of motion assessments, necessary 
for planning effective treatment; and  

(F) adapting environments for the disabled; 

Replace (3) above with:  

(3) “occupational therapy” means the therapeutic use of goal-directed life activities 
(occupations) with individuals, groups, or populations who have, or are at risk for injury, 
disorder, impairment, disability, activity limitation or participation restriction. Occupational 
therapists evaluate, analyze, and diagnose occupational challenges and provide 
interventions to support, improve, and/or restore function and engagement in meaningful 
tasks and activities. This includes treating pain and/or physical, cognitive, psychological 
psychosocial, sensory-perceptive, visual, and other aspects of performance in a variety of 
contexts to support and enhance engagement and participation in occupations that affect 
health, well- being, and quality of life. Occupational therapy services include but are not 
limited to: 

 
A. Evaluation, treatment and consultation to promote or enhance safety and 

performance in areas of activities of daily living (ADLs), instrumental 
activities of daily living (IADLs), health management, rest and sleep, 
education, work, play, leisure, and social participation; 



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 
 

Accepted 06/30/2025 
 

B. Administration, evaluation, and interpretation of tests and measurements of 
bodily functions and structures; 

C. Establishment, remediation, compensation or prevention of barriers to 
performance skills including; client factors (body structures, body 
functions), performance patterns (habits, routines, roles), performance skills 
(physical, neuromusculoskeletal, cognitive, psychological psychosocial, 
sensory- perceptive, communication and interaction, pain), and contexts 
(environmental, personal factors); 

D. Management of feeding, eating, and swallowing to enable eating and feeding 
performance; 

E. Design, fabrication, application, fitting, and training in seating and 
positioning; assistive technology; adaptive devices; orthotic devices; and 
training in the use of prosthetic devices; 

F. Assessment, recommendation, and training in techniques to enhance 
functional and community mobility; 

G. Application of adjunctive interventions and therapeutic procedures in 
preparation for or concurrently with occupation-based activities including 
but not limited:  

• electrophysical agents  
• thermal, mechanical, and instrument-assisted modalities 
• wound care 
• manual therapy; and  

H. Provide therapeutic interventions to prevent pain and dysfunction, restore 
function and/or reverse the progression of pathology in order to enhance an 
individual’s ability to execute tasks and to participate fully in life activities. 

 
 
(4) “occupational therapy assistant” means a person who assists in the practice of occupational 
therapy under the supervision of an occupational therapist;  
 
Replace (4) above with:  
(4) “occupational therapy assistant” means a person who provides occupational therapy services 
in collaboration with and under the supervision of a licensed occupational therapist. An 
occupational therapist delegates to an occupational therapy assistant selective activities that are 
commensurate with the occupational therapy assistant’s service competence. The occupational 
therapy assistant may contribute to the evaluation process by implementing the delegated 
assessments by providing verbal or written reports of assessments to the supervising 
occupational therapist.  
 
 
 



OT Scope of Practice Modernization Work Group 

Accepted 06/30/2025 

Add new definition in 08.84.190 Definitions: 

(8) "tests and measurements" are the standard methods and techniques used to obtain data
about the patient or client, including diagnostic imaging and electrodiagnostic and
electrophysiological tests and measures.



Daugherty’s informal organize of definitions per outcomes of workgroups to structure 
initial collaborative discussion during Scope of Practice Committee meeting 8/1.  This is 
just a worksheet of already proposed language from workgroups.  This does not reflect 
personal opinions or recommendations. 

Diagnostic imaging 

Definitions  

• Draft option 1: “Testing” means standard methods and techniques used to gather 
data about the patient/client, including but not limited to imaging, electrodiagnostic 
and electrophysiologic tests and measures. 

• Draft option 2: "Tests and measurements" are the standard methods and 
techniques used to obtain data about the patient or client, including diagnostic 
imaging and electrodiagnostic and electrophysiological tests and measures. 

Language that has the words “tests and measurements”: 

•  OT Draft: Administration, evaluation, and interpretation of tests and measurements 
of bodily functions and structures; 

• Sec. 08.84.190 (7) “physical therapy” means the examination, treatment and 
instruction of human beings to detect, assess, prevent, correct, alleviate and limit 
physical disability, bodily malfunction, pain from injury, disease and other bodily or 
mental conditions and includes the administration, interpretation and evaluation of 
tests and measurements of bodily functions and structures; the planning, 
administration, evaluation and modification of treatment and instruction including 
the use of physical measures, activities and devices for preventive and therapeutic 
purposes; the provision of consultative, educational and other advisory services for 
the purpose of reducing the incidence and severity of physical disability, bodily 
malfunction and pain; “physical therapy” does not include the use of roentgen rays 
and radioactive materials for diagnosis and therapeutic purposes, the use of 
electricity for surgical purposes, and the diagnosis of disease. 

Language that has the word “testing”: 

• PT Draft: Examining, evaluating, and testing patients/clients with mechanical, 
physiological and developmental impairments, functional limitations, and 
disabilities or other health and movement-related conditions in order to determine 
a diagnosis, prognosis and plan of treatment intervention, and to assess the 
ongoing effects of intervention. 



• PT Draft: Referring a patient/client to healthcare providers and facilities for services 
and testing to inform the physical therapist plan of care. 

• Sec. 08.84.030 (a) (2) pass, to the satisfaction of the board, an examination 
prepared by a national testing service approved by the board to determine the 
applicant's fitness for practice as a physical therapist or physical therapist 
assistant, or be entitled to licensure without examination as provided in AS 
08.84.060; 

• Sec. 08.84.030 (b) (2) pass, to the satisfaction of the board, an examination 
prepared by a national testing service approved by the board or an examination 
recognized by a national accreditation agency approved by the board to determine 
the applicant's fitness for practice as an occupational therapist or occupational 
therapy assistant, or be entitled to licensure without examination under AS 
08.84.060; 

• 12 AAC 54.050 (c) (5): “a copy of the confirmation from the testing center indicating 
the date that the applicant is scheduled to take the national physical therapy 
examination;” 

• 12 AAC 54.100 (2) a report sent directly to the department from the testing 
organization of the applicant’s national physical therapy examination scores; 

• 12 AAC 54.110 (2) a report sent directly to the department from the testing 
organization of the applicant’s national physical therapy examination scores; 

 

  



Telehealth 

Definitions 

• Draft option: “Telehealth” is the use of electronic communications to provide and 
deliver a host of health-related information and healthcare services, including, but 
not limited to physical therapy related information and services, over large and 
small distances. Telehealth encompasses a variety of healthcare and health 
promotion activities, including, but not limited to, education, advice, reminders, 
interventions, and monitoring of interventions. 

• AS 47.05.270(e)  In this section, “telehealth” means the practice of health care 
delivery, evaluation, diagnosis, consultation, or treatment, using the transfer of 
health care data through audio, visual, or data communications, performed over 
two or more locations between providers who are physically separated from the 
recipient or from each other or between a provider and a recipient who are 
physically separated from each other. 

• 12 AAC 54.990. DEFINITIONS. In this chapter and in AS 08.84 (7) “telerehabilitation” 
means the practice of therapy by a person licensed as a therapist under AS 08.84 
and this chapter using an interactive telecommunication system; 

Language that has telehealth 

• Sec. 08.02.130. Telehealth --- Centralized statute 
• PT Draft: “Physical therapy” means the care and services provided in-person or via 

telehealth by or under the direction and supervision of a physical therapist who is 
licensed pursuant to this [act]. The term “physiotherapy” shall be synonymous with 
“physical therapy” pursuant to this [act]. 

• OT Draft: Did not include telehealth because telehealth is just another practice 
setting and is already established in centralized statute 

Language that has telerehabilitation  

• 12 AAC 54.530. STANDARDS FOR PRACTICE OF TELEREHABILITATION BY 
PHYSICAL THERAPIST.  

o (a) The purpose of this section is to establish standards for the practice of 
telerehabilitation by means of an interactive telecommunication system by a 
physical therapist licensed under AS 08.84 and this chapter in order to 
provide physical therapy to patients who are located in this state and do not 
have access to a physical therapist in person due to geographic constraints 
or health and safety constraints.  



o (b) A physical therapist licensed under AS 08.84 and this chapter conducting 
telerehabilitation by means of an interactive telecommunication system 

• 12 AAC 54.825. STANDARDS FOR PRACTICE OF TELEREHABILITATION BY 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY.  

o (a) The purpose of this section is to establish standards for the practice of 
telerehabilitation by means of an interactive telecommunication system by 
an occupational therapist licensed under AS 08.84 and this chapter in order 
to provide occupational therapy to patients who are located in this state and 
do not have access to an occupational therapist in person due to geographic 
constraints or health and safety constraints.  

o (b) An occupational therapist licensed under AS 08.84 and this chapter 
conducting telerehabilitation by means of an interactive telecommunication 
system 

  



 



  
October 3, 2023 

 
Representative Laddie Shaw 
State Capitol Room 403 
Juneau, AK 99801 
 
Dear Representative Shaw, 
 
The Alaska Occupational Therapy Association (AKOTA) hopes to propose legislation to update the 
current scope of practice for the 2024 legislative session. These proposed statutory changes are 
required to reflect the current scope and professional practice of occupational therapy in our state and 
are supported by the State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board. The current OT 
statutes were last revised in the 1980s and no longer reflect the practice of occupational therapists, 
particularly those who support individuals who experience orthopedic or musculoskeletal injuries. In an 
effort to position this request to move expediently through the legislative process, we kindly request 
consideration of your sponsorship for these efforts. Below please find the current scope of practice 
statutes and the proposed revisions.  
 

 
Sec 08.84.190 Definitions (new text underlined and bold [deleted text bracketed]) 
 

(3) “occupational therapy” means, for compensation, the use of purposeful activity, evaluation, 
treatment, and consultation with human beings whose ability to cope with the tasks of daily living are 
threatened with, or impaired by developmental deficits, learning disabilities, aging, poverty, cultural 
differences, physical injury or illness, or psychological and social disabilities to maximize 
independence, prevent disability, and maintain health; “occupational therapy” includes] 
[developing daily living, play, leisure, social, and developmental skills 

A. facilitating perceptual-motor and sensory integrative functioning  
B. enhancing functional performance, prevocational skills, and work capabilities using specifically 

designed exercises, therapeutic activities and measure, manual intervention, and appliances 
C. design, fabrication, and application of splints or selective adaptive equipment  
D. administering and interpreting standardized and nonstandardized assessments, 

including sensory, manual muscle, and range of motion assessments, necessary for 
planning effective treatment and  

E. [adapting environments for the disabled] Application of adjunctive interventions 
and therapeutic procedures, including dry needling, in preparation for or 
concurrently with occupation-based activities including but not limited to therapeutic 
and instrument assisted modalities, wound care, and manual therapy. 
 
We so appreciate your consideration of this request and look forward to hearing back from your 
office 

 
 

 
Cary Moore, PhD, OTR/L 2023 
AKOTA President 



  
October 3, 2023 

 
Alaska Chiropractic Society 
Alaska Acupuncture Association 
Alaska Nurses Association 
Alaska Physical Therapy Association 
Alaska State Medical Association 

 
Dear healthcare colleagues, 

 
The Alaska Occupational Therapy Association (AKOTA) aims to propose legislation to update the 
current scope of practice for the 2024 legislative session and enable occupational therapy 
practitioners to practice dry needling. These proposed statutory changes reflect the current scope 
and professional practice of occupational therapy in our state and are supported by the State 
Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board. In an effort to position this request to move 
expediently through the legislative process, we are submitting for your review and/or feedback. 
Below please find the current scope of practice statutes and the proposed revisions. 

 
Sec 08.84.190 Definitions (new text underlined and bold [deleted text bracketed]) 
 

(3) “occupational therapy” means, for compensation, the use of purposeful activity, evaluation, 
treatment, and consultation with human beings whose ability to cope with the tasks of daily living are 
threatened with, or impaired by developmental deficits, learning disabilities, aging, poverty, cultural 
differences, physical injury or illness, or psychological and social disabilities to maximize 
independence, prevent disability, and maintain health; “occupational therapy” includes] 
[developing daily living, play, leisure, social, and developmental skills 

A. facilitating perceptual-motor and sensory integrative functioning  
B. enhancing functional performance, prevocational skills, and work capabilities using specifically 

designed exercises, therapeutic activities and measure, manual intervention, and appliances 
C. design, fabrication, and application of splints or selective adaptive equipment  
D. administering and interpreting standardized and nonstandardized assessments, 

including sensory, manual muscle, and range of motion assessments, necessary for 
planning effective treatment and  

E. [adapting environments for the disabled] Application of adjunctive interventions 
and therapeutic procedures, including dry needling, in preparation for or 
concurrently with occupation-based activities including but not limited to therapeutic 
and instrument assisted modalities, wound care, and manual therapy. 
 

Should any questions or concerns arise on behalf of your professional association, please reach out to 
Cary Moore, AKOTA President: president@akota.org. 
 
 

 
Cary Moore, PhD, OTR/L 2023 
AKOTA President 

mailto:president@akota.org


From: Board of Physical and Occupational Therapy (CED sponsored)
To: Matthew R. Schumacher
Subject: RE: Request to Share Survey with Licensed Physical Therapists
Date: Monday, July 21, 2025 11:43:30 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Hello,

The State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy Board adopts regulations to carry out
laws governing the practice of physical therapy and occupational therapy in Alaska. It makes
final decisions and takes disciplinary actions against people who violate licensing laws. AS
08.84.010(b). While the board commends your research project, it is not within the board’s
purview to solicit research study participants.

The Division of Professional Licensing does make information available publicly for licensed
physical therapists and physical therapist assistants. You can download that information from
our website here à https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/cbp/main/ under Database
downloads > Professional License Download if you wish to contact licensees directly via mail.
Email addresses and phone numbers are not part of this public information.

Best regards,

Sheri Ryan
Licensing Examiner 3 Advanced
Board of Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy
Board of Certified Direct-Entry Midwives
Athletic Trainers Program
Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing

sheri.ryan@alaska.gov
Office: 907-269-6425 | Fax: 907-465-2974
www.commerce.alaska.gov

Are you subscribed to the PT/OT Board Listserv? Receive notifications of board meetings,
important announcements/updates, and notices of proposed changes to regulations!
Subscribe NOW!

Effective May 1, 2025 – Physical Therapy Licensure Compact NOW OPERATIONAL
through the PT Compact Commission for Alaska!

From: Matthew R. Schumacher 
Sent: Sunday, July 20, 2025 4:23 PM
Subject: Request to Share Survey with Licensed Physical Therapists

mailto:physicalandoccupationaltherapy@alaska.gov
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/cbp/main/
mailto:sheri.ryan@alaska.gov
http://www.commerce.alaska.gov/
https://www.facebook.com/DCCEDAK
https://twitter.com/AlaskaDcced
https://list.state.ak.us/mailman/listinfo/alaska.ptot.news
https://ptcompact.org/


CAUTION: This email originated from outside the State of Alaska mail system. Do not
click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content
is safe.

Good evening,

I hope this message finds you well. I am writing to kindly request your assistance in the possibility of
distributing the following research survey invitation to licensed physical therapists in your
jurisdiction. The study is being conducted by researchers at the University of Mary and aims to
explore clinical reasoning using a validated assessment tool.

If appropriate, we would greatly appreciate the consideration of sharing the message below with
your licensees:

Dear Colleague,

We are researchers from the University of Mary, inviting you to participate in a survey designed to
assess clinical reasoning through your responses to three cervical spine clinical cases. This study uses
a Script Concordance Test to evaluate clinical reasoning levels. The survey takes approximately 15
minutes to complete. Participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw at any time. The
findings aim to inform physical therapy education and better understand the impact of advanced
training on clinical reasoning.

Your participation may help better understand the clinical reasoning and the influence of post-
professional training in physical therapy.

Thank you for considering this opportunity to contribute to our research.

Survey Link: https://lfsebs.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_0P3ktrRatXDukIK

Dr. Matt Schumacher, PT, DPT, DSc, MTC, FAAOMPT
Assistant Professor, University of Mary Physical Therapy Department
Board-Certified Orthopedic Clinical Specialist
Fellow, American Academy of Orthopedic Manual Physical Therapists

The University of Mary exists to serve the religious, academic,
and cultural needs of the people in our region and beyond.
Sponsored by the Sisters of Annunciation Monastery,
it is Christian, it is Catholic, and it is Benedictine.

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flfsebs.qualtrics.com%2Fjfe%2Fform%2FSV_0P3ktrRatXDukIK&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171048867%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ZSuQqGPxEdA%2FxO6HEcqBUAhTCJSunv1stvAIVizDMMA%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.umary.edu%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171071945%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=c3JBwrXsAFZgoQDy%2BBs%2BOF8scJ0clwmYi6M1e7N%2BS5k%3D&reserved=0


7500 University Drive • Bismarck, ND 58504 • (701) 355-5145
UMary | UMary Online | Follow Us | Learn More | News

Notice to Recipient: The information contained in this message is confidential
and intended only for the recipient(s). If you received this message in error,
you are prohibited from copying, distributing or using the information for
any purpose. Please contact the sender immediately and delete
the original message

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.umary.edu%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171088449%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=No%2BvlupQkLStEw5PlCKuJsHA58K6yLGHF3ocPt9Nx5Y%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fonline.umary.edu%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171105456%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lAYFm%2FmOJr8utvXWvY023BXYe2ES4Ai8bSlcnWISXGo%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Funiversityofmary%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171120051%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=uTIaCsVii4HTsW2dV6%2FEz1DG2fYmoEhzssnF4iUnBkk%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.umary.edu%2Fabout%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171134077%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=KP4%2BeRhwQ6rUOur3lr1%2BOREqoNq9xgTFvZEQsfOS%2FPA%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fnews.umary.edu%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cphysicalandoccupationaltherapy%40alaska.gov%7C7ffb7359269a4b14344f08ddc7eccf5c%7C20030bf67ad942f7927359ea83fcfa38%7C0%7C0%7C638886543171147343%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C80000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Si1XmidhorIsapJlk9vSBtw6FOLic4FSpAl3VOE8dkA%3D&reserved=0


Generic letter regarding correspondence about an unlicensed occupational therapist: 

 

The Board very much appreciates that you have reached out with your concerns.  The 
Board of Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy strives to ensure a skilled, 
competent, and vetted workforce. The licensure process allows the Board to safeguard 
Alaskans by ensuring that occupational therapists and occupational therapy assistants 
meet necessary standards.  We would like to extend our gratitude for the advocacy that 
you are offering on behalf of the patients that are alleged to be working with an unlicensed 
therapist.  By bringing these questions forward, you are facilitating a safer environment for 
patients to receive occupational therapy services.   

An individual must be licensed in Alaska in order to provide occupational therapy services 
in Alaska, per Sec. 08.84.150(b), which includes all treatment settings such as [specific 
reference to the communication’s complaint.]  Additionally, Sec. 08.84.130(c+d) identifies 
that an individual cannot identify or imply that he/she is a licensed occupational therapist 
or an occupational therapy assistant, if he/she is not licensed as an OT or OTA.  These are 
impermissible infractions of state statute, and these infractions directly impact the safety 
of Alaskans. 

There are a few instances in which a therapist may not be required to obtain Alaska 
licensure, especially if he/she holds a license in another state; [however, these exceptions 
do not apply to the scenario that you described.] 

1. Sec. 08.84.150(b)(3) identify unique scenarios in which a federally employed 
occupational therapy provider may not need an Alaska occupational therapist or 
occupational therapy assistant license to provide occupational services in Alaska.   

2. Additionally, Sec. 08.02.130(b) allows an occupational therapist or occupational 
therapy assistant who is a member of a physician’s multidisciplinary care team to 
provide telehealth services without Alaska licensure within specific parameters.   

3. Sec. 08.84.150(b) identifies a few additional, specific scenarios in which an 
occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant does not need to be 
licensed in Alaska. 

The Board strongly encourages you to file a formal complaint in relation to the scenario 
that you have described.  The Board appreciates that you have reached out with these 
questions and concerns, as a person providing occupational therapy services without 
licensure directly impacts Alaskan safety.   

In order to initiate an investigation, you need to formally file a complaint through 
Investigations.  Please complete the Investigations – Request for Contact form, which is 



available through this link: Investigations, Division of Corporations, Business and 
Professional Licensing.   

Your decision to submit this complaint demonstrates your commitment to professional 
ethics which is validated by the Principles of Practice, especially Principle 1.1+2, Principle 
3.1, and Principle 6.  The Board appreciates your dedication to professional ethics and is 
grateful for the opportunity to open further investigation into this allegation.   

Again, the Board strongly urges you to complete this Request for Contact form due to the 
severity of this infraction, as this documentation is required for the Board to address these 
concerns.  Thank you for being a strong advocate for these patients and prioritizing the 
safety of Alaskans.  The Board truly values your advocacy for these patients.   

 

References 

Sec. 08.02.130(b) A physician licensed in another state or an out-of-state member of the 
physician's multidisciplinary care team may provide health care services through 
telehealth to a patient located in the state as provided in this subsection, subject to the 
investigative and enforcement powers of the department under AS 08.01.087. A member of 
a physician's multidisciplinary care team may provide a health care service through 
telehealth to a patient located in this state if the health care service, as provided by the 
multidisciplinary care team, is not reasonably available in the state. A physician shall be 
subject to disciplinary action by the State Medical Board under AS 08.64.333, and a 
member of the physician's multidisciplinary care team shall be subject to disciplinary 
action by the department under AS 08.02.140. The privilege to practice under this 
subsection extends only to 
(1) ongoing treatment or follow-up care related to health care services previously provided 
by the physician to the patient and applies only if  
(A) the physician and the patient have an established physician-patient relationship; and  
(B) the physician has previously conducted an in-person visit with the patient;  
(2) a visit regarding a suspected or diagnosed life-threatening condition for which  
(A) the patient has been referred to the physician licensed in another state by a physician 
licensed in this state and that referral has been documented by the referring physician; 
and  
(B) the visit involves communication with the patient regarding diagnostic or treatment 
plan options or analysis of test results for the life-threatening condition; or  
(3) ongoing treatment or follow-up care provided by a physician licensed in another state or 
a member of the physician's multidisciplinary care team regarding a suspected or 
diagnosed life-threatening condition. 
 
Sec. 08.84.130 (c) A person not licensed as an occupational therapist, or whose license is 
suspended or revoked, or whose license is lapsed, who uses in connection with the 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/Investigations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/Investigations.aspx


person's name the words "Licensed Occupational Therapist,” or other letters, words, or 
insignia indicating or implying that the person is a licensed occupational therapist, or who 
orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds out as a licensed occupational 
therapist is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.  
(d) A person not licensed as an occupational therapy assistant, or whose license is 
suspended or revoked, or whose license is lapsed, who orally or in writing, directly or by 
implication, holds out as a licensed occupational therapy assistant is guilty of a class B 
misdemeanor. 
 
Sec. 08.84.150(b) A person may not provide services that the person describes as 
occupational therapy without being licensed under this chapter unless the person is  
(1) a student in an accredited occupational therapy program or in a supervised field work 
program;  
(2) a graduate of a foreign school of occupational therapy fulfilling the internship 
requirement of AS 08.84.032, and then only unless under the continuous direction and 
immediate supervision of an occupational therapist;  
(3) an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant employed by the United 
States Government while in the discharge of official duties;  
(4) granted a limited permit under AS 08.84.075;  
(5) licensed under this title and uses occupational therapy skills in the practice of the 
profession for which the license is issued; or  
(6) employed as a teacher or teacher’s aide by an educational institution and is required to 
use occupational therapy skills during the course of employment, if  
(A) the occupational therapy skills are used under a program implemented by the employer 
and developed by a licensed occupational therapist;  
(B) the employer maintains direct supervision of the person’s use of occupational therapy 
skills; and  
(C) the person does not represent to (i) be an occupational therapist or occupational 
therapy assistant; and (ii) practice occupational therapy. 
 
Principles of Practice 
Principle 1: Patient/Client Safety and Well Being:  
1. Adhere to the respective national professional core values and ethical standards.  
2. Act in the best interest of the patient/client.  
 
Principle 3: Provide services in a fair and equitable manner:  
1. Advocate for just and fair treatment for all patients, clients, employees and colleagues 
by encouraging employers and colleagues to abide by the ethical standards set forth by 
their national professions. 
 
Principle 6: Comply with institutional rules, local, state, federal, and international laws 
applicable to the profession:  
1. Comply with professionally applicable institutional, local, state, federal and 
international laws and regulations.  



2. Report to the Board any unprofessional, incompetent, or illegal behavior of a physical 
therapist or occupational therapist or physical therapist assistant or occupational therapy 
assistant in practice, education or research.  
3. Cooperate with an investigation by the State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy 
Board. Cooperation includes responding fully and promptly to any questions raised by the 
Board and providing copies of the medical records and other documents requested by the 
Board. 
 
The above references have been provided in this letter for your convenience.  Please review 
these citations in their original documents on the Board website: Statutes & Regulations, 
Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy, Professional Licensing, Division of 
Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing  
 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx


Generic letter regarding correspondence about an unlicensed physical therapist: 

 

The Board very much appreciates that you have reached out with your concerns.  The 
Board of Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy strives to ensure a skilled, 
competent, and vetted workforce. The licensure process allows the Board to safeguard 
Alaskans by ensuring that physical therapists and physical therapist assistants meet 
necessary standards.  We would like to extend our gratitude for the advocacy that you are 
offering on behalf of the patients that are alleged to be working with an unlicensed 
therapist.  By bringing these questions forward, you are facilitating a safer environment for 
patients to receive occupational therapy services.   

An individual must be licensed in Alaska in order to provide physical therapy services in 
Alaska, per Sec. 08.84.150(a), which includes all treatment settings such as [specific 
reference to the communication’s complaint.]   Additionally, Sec. 08.84.130(a+b) identifies 
that an individual cannot identify or imply that he/she is a licensed physical therapist or 
physical therapist assistant, if he/she is not licensed as a PT or PTA.  These are 
impermissible infractions of state statute, and these infractions directly impact the safety 
of Alaskans.  

A physical therapist or physical therapist assistant may not be required to obtain Alaska 
licensure to provide telehealth services, only if he/she is a member of a physician’s 
multidisciplinary care team per Sec. 08.02.130(b).  Sec. 08.84.150(a) identifies a few 
specific scenarios in which a physical therapist or physical therapist assistant does not 
need to be licensed in Alaska, [but these exceptions do not apply to the scenario that you 
have described.] 

The Board strongly encourages you to file a formal complaint in relation to the scenario 
that you have described.  The Board appreciates that you have reached out with these 
questions and concerns, as a person providing physical therapy services without licensure 
directly impacts Alaskan safety.  The Board appreciates the opportunity to open further 
investigation into this allegation.  

In order to initiate an investigation, you need to formally file a complaint through 
Investigations.  Please complete the Investigations – Request for Contact form, which is 
available through this link: Investigations, Division of Corporations, Business and 
Professional Licensing.   

Your decision to submit this complaint demonstrates your commitment to professional 
ethics which is validated by the Principles of Practice, especially Principle 1.1+2, Principle 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/Investigations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/Investigations.aspx


3.1, and Principle 6.  The Board appreciates your dedication to professional ethics and is 
grateful for the opportunity to open further investigation into this allegation.   

Again, the Board strongly urges you to complete this Request for Contact form due to the 
severity of this infraction, as this documentation is required for the Board to address these 
concerns.  Thank you for being a strong advocate for these patients and prioritizing the 
safety of Alaskans.  The Board truly values your advocacy for these patients.   

 

References 

Sec. 08.02.130(b) A physician licensed in another state or an out-of-state member of the 
physician's multidisciplinary care team may provide health care services through 
telehealth to a patient located in the state as provided in this subsection, subject to the 
investigative and enforcement powers of the department under AS 08.01.087. A member of 
a physician's multidisciplinary care team may provide a health care service through 
telehealth to a patient located in this state if the health care service, as provided by the 
multidisciplinary care team, is not reasonably available in the state. A physician shall be 
subject to disciplinary action by the State Medical Board under AS 08.64.333, and a 
member of the physician's multidisciplinary care team shall be subject to disciplinary 
action by the department under AS 08.02.140. The privilege to practice under this 
subsection extends only to 
(1) ongoing treatment or follow-up care related to health care services previously provided 
by the physician to the patient and applies only if  
(A) the physician and the patient have an established physician-patient relationship; and  
(B) the physician has previously conducted an in-person visit with the patient;  
(2) a visit regarding a suspected or diagnosed life-threatening condition for which  
(A) the patient has been referred to the physician licensed in another state by a physician 
licensed in this state and that referral has been documented by the referring physician; 
and  
(B) the visit involves communication with the patient regarding diagnostic or treatment 
plan options or analysis of test results for the life-threatening condition; or  
(3) ongoing treatment or follow-up care provided by a physician licensed in another state or 
a member of the physician's multidisciplinary care team regarding a suspected or 
diagnosed life-threatening condition. 
 
Sec. 08.84.130. False claim of license prohibited.  
(a) A person not licensed as a physical therapist, or whose license is suspended or revoked 
or has lapsed, who uses in connection with the person's name the words or letters "P.T.," 
"Physical Therapist," "L.P.T.," "Licensed Physical Therapist," or other letters, words, or 
insignia indicating or implying that the person is a licensed physical therapist, or who, in 
any way, orally or in writing, directly or by implication, holds out as a licensed physical 
therapist, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.  



(b) A person not licensed as a physical therapist assistant, or whose license is suspended 
or revoked or has lapsed, who, in any way, orally or in writing, directly or by implication, 
holds out as a licensed physical therapist assistant is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 
 
Sec. 08.84.150(a) It is unlawful for a person to practice physical therapy without being 
licensed under this chapter unless the person is  
(1) a student in an accredited physical therapy program;  
(2) a graduate of a foreign school of physical therapy fulfilling the internship requirement of 
AS 08.84.032, and then only unless under the continuous direction and immediate 
supervision of a physical therapist;  
(3) issued a limited permit under AS 08.84.075; or  
(4) granted a compact privilege under AS 08.84.188. 
 
Principles of Practice 
Principle 1: Patient/Client Safety and Well Being:  
1. Adhere to the respective national professional core values and ethical standards.  
2. Act in the best interest of the patient/client.  
 
Principle 3: Provide services in a fair and equitable manner:  
1. Advocate for just and fair treatment for all patients, clients, employees and colleagues 
by encouraging employers and colleagues to abide by the ethical standards set forth by 
their national professions. 
 
Principle 6: Comply with institutional rules, local, state, federal, and international laws 
applicable to the profession:  
1. Comply with professionally applicable institutional, local, state, federal and 
international laws and regulations.  
2. Report to the Board any unprofessional, incompetent, or illegal behavior of a physical 
therapist or occupational therapist or physical therapist assistant or occupational therapy 
assistant in practice, education or research.  
3. Cooperate with an investigation by the State Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy 
Board. Cooperation includes responding fully and promptly to any questions raised by the 
Board and providing copies of the medical records and other documents requested by the 
Board. 
 
The above references have been provided in this letter for your convenience.  Please review 
these citations in their original documents on the Board website: Statutes & Regulations, 
Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy, Professional Licensing, Division of 
Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing  
 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/PhysicalTherapyOccupationalTherapy/StatutesRegulations.aspx

	Sec 08.84.190 Definitions (new text underlined and bold [deleted text bracketed])
	Sec 08.84.190 Definitions (new text underlined and bold [deleted text bracketed])
	Table of Contents
	1. Call to Order/Roll Call
	2. Review/Approve Agenda
	PHY - Agenda - SOP Mtg - 08-01-2025.pdf

	3. Approve Minutes - 12/20/2024 and 07/11/2025
	AK PT_OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - July 11, 2025 Minutes - DRAFT.pdf
	AK PT_OT Board - Scope of Practices Committee Mtg - December 20, 2024 Minutes - Draft.pdf

	4. Public Comment
	5. Legislative Initiatives
	A. PT Modernization Statutory Project
	AK PT Scope Modernization Draft Language approved 06-17-2025.pdf
	AK Modernized PT SOP - draft 06.17.2025 working copy.docx

	B. OT Modernization Statutory Project
	OT Scope Modernization Final report.pdf

	C. Drafting Combined Draft Language from PT and OT Modernization Statutory Projects
	Definitions worksheet.docx

	D. Legislative Strategy
	AKOTA - Rep Shaw letter  - 10-03-2023.pdf
	AKOTA - State association letter - 10-3-2023.pdf

	E. DPT/OTD Term Protection Statutory DRAFT Language

	6. NEW Board Correspondence
	A. OT Scope Questions
	B. PT Scope Questions
	C. Generic
	Request to Share Survey with Licensed Physical Therapists - 07-20-2025_redacted.pdf
	i. Board Position Statement - PT/OT License Required when working in School District in addition to Type C Special Service Certificate
	Generic unlicensed occupational therapist letter.docx
	Generic unlicensed physical therapist letter.docx



	7. Next Steps
	8. Adjourn



